Design of Sustainable Chemical Products—The Example of Ionic Liquids

J. Ranke,* S. Stolte, R. Störmann, J. Arning, and B. Jastorff

Center for Environmental Research and Technology, Universität Bremen, Leobener Strasse, D-28359 Bremen, Germany

Received August 7, 2006

Contents

1. Introduction	2183
1.1. The Case of Ionic Liquids	2184
1.2. Current Ecotoxicological Risk Profiles of Ionic Liquids	2185
1.2.1. Release	2185
1.2.2. Spatiotemporal Range	2186
1.2.3. Bioaccumulation	2186
1.2.4. Biological Activity	2186
1.2.5. Uncertainty	2187
1.3. Thinking in Structure–Activity Relationships (T-SAR)	2187
2. Release from Technical Systems	2188
2.1. Gaseous Release	2188
2.2. Ionic Liquids in Wastewater	2188
2.3. Accidental Releases to Soil or Water	2190
2.4. Uncertainty of Release Estimates	2191
3. Information Regarding the Spatiotemporal Range of Ionic Liquids	2191
3.1. Abiotic Hydrolysis of Ionic Liquid Constituents	2191
3.2. Photodegradation	2191
3.3. Biodegradation in the Environment	2191
3.4. Sorption to Minerals and Organic Matter	2192
3.5. Uncertainty in the Evaluation of the Spatiotemporal Range of Ionic Liquids	2192
4. Ionic Liquid Bioaccumulation	2193
5. Biological Activity of Ionic Liquids	2195
5.1. Ionic Liquid Toxicity toward Enzymes, Microorganisms, and Cell Cultures	2195
5.2. Aquatic Toxicity	2200
5.3. Terrestrial and Mammalian Toxicity of Ionic Liquids	2202
5.4. Uncertainty in the Evaluation of Biological Activity	2202
6. Evaluation Uncertainties and Data Gaps	2203
7. Conclusions	2204
8. Acknowledgments	2204
9. References	2204

1. Introduction

Striving for a sustainable development is a necessary task for mankind. Even if it might appear unrealistic to achieve sustainability looking at the rates at which rain forests are being harvested and the global climate is changing, there is an ethical imperative that as much life as possible should continue.¹ The globalized economy and global society have

* Corresponding author: telephone, +49 421 218 63373; fax, +49 421 218 63375; e-mail, jranke@uni-bremen.de.

intimate ties with chemical products and processes. Because of these close relationships and because of some well-known adverse interactions of chemical products and processes with global ecology, chemistry is explicitly addressed in Agenda 21,² which was a result of the UN conference on Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro held in 1992.

Chemical industry, governments, academia, and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) have taken different approaches to address the challenges at the interface of chemistry and sustainability. Among them are the principles of green chemistry,³ the global Responsible Care initiative by the International Council of Chemical Associations (ICCA), and the OECD conferences on sustainable chemistry. Further, national laws and international conventions on the regulation of chemical products and processes address the sustainability of chemistry, as well as public-awareness actions of NGOs concerning specific products or production sites.

One of the tasks in striving for sustainable chemistry is the development of sustainable chemical products. So far, few case studies of risk-conscious design,⁴ reviews of sustainable design strategies,^{5–7} and textbooks for university teaching^{8–10} provide some guidance as how to proceed in this emerging field. However, current authors in the field of green chemistry are not necessarily aware of the variety and difficulty of the questions that need to be addressed for a sustainability assessment.¹¹

Figure 1 shows an idealized diagram of a cyclic design process for sustainable chemical products. This diagram supposes that a technical purpose exists, which is to be fulfilled by the substance to be found. It should be noted that in the case of ionic liquids (ILs) this is not always the case, as synthesis routes to new ILs are frequently published without a clear-cut technical purpose. Therefore, we have to keep in mind that the sustainability of an ionic liquid is strongly dependent on the purpose of the technical process in which it is applied. Without a definition of its technical purpose, it is impossible to fully characterize a development process as a sustainable one.

For a given technical application, the sustainable design process sketched in Figure 1 can be applied. Its first main message is the equal importance attributed to testing of the application specific performance of a substance, its potential impact on human health, and its potential impact on the environment. Results from testing in all three categories have to be equally respected in the iterative process of substance selection.

The second main message is the importance of an evaluation procedure, generating a synopsis of the available information, and reflecting it with regard to decisions to use or not to use certain substances for a specific purpose. On this level, it has to be ascertained that economical, social, and ecological aspects are being equally and adequately taken into account.



Johannes Ranke received his diploma as an Environmental Chemist from ETH Zurich in 1997 and coauthored a book on environmentally conscious design of chemical products and processes with Prof. K. Hungerbühler, also ETH Zurich, in 1998. Since then, he has worked in the group of Prof. B. Jastorff in the Center of Environmental Research and Technology at the University of Bremen. His Ph.D. dissertation on ecotoxicological risk profiles of antifouling biocides was published in 2001. His main research interest is to improve the mechanistic and quantitative understanding of risk related properties of chemical substances, pursuing the vision of a molecular design of sustainable chemical products.



Reinhold Störmann received his Ph.D. on transformation of structurally related compounds by the monooxygenase system of the liver from the University of Bremen in 1988. During a postdoc position at the University of Bremen, he worked on metabolization of environmental chemicals. In 1992 he conducted an internship at the National Institute of Health in Bethesda, MD. He received further training as an IT-specialist for natural sciences and founded the CHEOPS GmbH in 1994, working as director and software engineer with chemical databases. His main interests are applications of T-SAR, xenobiotic metabolism, and ionic liquids.



Stefan Stolte finalized his studies in Chemistry and Biochemistry in 2004. His diploma thesis in the department of Prof. Dr. Bernd Jastorff dealt with the metabolism of ionic liquids. At the moment, he is working as a Ph.D. student at the Center of Environmental Research and Technology in the fields of (eco)toxicity, biodegradation, and analytical methods for ionic liquids.

The focus of our review is on the right side of Figure 1 and is further specified below. Nevertheless, conclusions for technological applications, possible human health impacts, and economical and social implications may also be derived from the information given.

1.1. The Case of Ionic Liquids

Since the pioneering study of Wilkes and co-workers,¹² ionic liquids have not only become increasingly popular as reaction and extraction media in research and development, they have also widely been promoted as "green solvents", which can easily be verified by browsing the contents of a recent issue of the journal *Green Chemistry* or looking through the abstracts of recent conferences on green and/or sustainable chemistry. The rationale for calling them green generally consists of three arguments:

(i) their vapor pressure is generally negligible, and thus inhalative exposure of workers is reduced as compared to conventional molecular solvents;



Jürgen Arning graduated in Chemistry and Biochemistry in the group of Prof. Dr. Detmar Beyersmann at the Center for Biomolecular Interactions at the University of Bremen in 2004. Since then, he has been working as a Ph.D. student in the group of Prof. Dr. Bernd Jastorff at the Center of Environmental Research and Technology at the University of Bremen. His work is currently funded by a fellowship of the Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt. His research is focused on enzyme inhibiton, cytotoxicity, and interactions of biocides and ionic liquids with biomolecules.

(ii) they have been shown to be non-flammable, and thus the risk of fast, exothermic oxidations in the case of an accident is strongly reduced; and

(iii) they are claimed to be relatively nontoxic.

While these arguments are certainly important in the discussion, point iii, in particular, has been repeatedly challenged. Using them as a basis for calling ionic liquids green solvents raises several questions:

• What are boundary conditions and exceptions to the statements cited above?

- What additional aspects have to be taken into account?
- Do we have enough relevant data?
- How do green solvents relate to sustainable development?

Such questions have been posed before, leading to an early conference contribution named "Are ionic liquids green solvents?",¹³ the definition of an assessment strategy and a preliminary assessment from our group,¹⁴ the timely review "Ionic liquids: the neglected issues",¹⁵ and a later view-



Bernd Jastorff obtained his Ph.D. degree in Organic Chemistry in 1970. Until 1973, he was a research assistant at the Max-Planck-Institute for experimental medicine in Göttingen. Since then, he has been a Professor at the University of Bremen. From 1996 to 2002, he served as Managing Director of the UFT Center of Environmental Research and Technology. His international collaborations lead to guest professorships in The Netherlands, Poland, and Romania, a Dr. h.c. from the University of Gdansk, and a Dr. h.c. from the University of Gdansk. He is head of the UFT Department of Bioorganic Chemistry, closely cooperating within the interdisciplinary UFT unit "Risk Research for Man and the Environment". His main research interest is in using structure–activity relationships for improving the sustainability of chemical products.

point.¹⁶ Important aspects of the greenness of ILs have been incorporated in recent articles by leading authors in the field.^{17,18} However, given the number of studies on toxicity, degradation, and ecotoxicity of ionic liquids that have recently appeared, a review focusing on a comparative risk analysis of ionic liquids and conventional molecular solvents, as well as other comparable industrial chemicals, is warranted. We suggest that there are no short answers to the questions raised above. This review was written to systematically gather existing contributions to their answers.

It has become common, although not universally adopted, to define ionic liquids as liquids that are entirely composed of ions, with a melting point lower than 373 K (100 °C). The much smaller group of room-temperature ionic liquids (RTILs) exhibit melting points up to 298 K. In this review, we comprehensively consider molten salts with melting points up to 373 K that are published using the keyword ionic liquid(s), with full conscience of the fact that not all literature about chemical substances falling under our definition will be retrieved by this strategy.

We will use a random selection of conventional molecular solvents with their risk related properties as a reference throughout this article. Acetone has previously been chosen as a reference solvent.¹⁹ Here, we additionally consider the commonly used solvents toluene, methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE), tetrahydrofuran (THF), dichloromethane, and acetonitrile as references, where data are available. Another set of reference substances that are not functionally analogous to ILs, but have structural analogies, are ionic surfactants. While anionic surfactants are to our knowledge not typically used for their biological activity, there are many cationic quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs) that are used as sanitizing swimming pool additives²⁰ or as germicides and deodorizers²¹ and which are known for their toxicities toward algae²² and other organisms. Here, we have chosen benzalkonium chlorides, preferably benzyldimethylhexadecylammonium chloride (BDMAC), as reference substances. On a case by case basis, we also use other cationic or anionic surfactants as reference compounds for comparison.

We will reproduce the most informative literature data as numeric tabular material, but in many cases it will be sufficient to systematically summarize results and point the interested reader to the relevant sources. The exact coverage of this review is given by the substance group defined above, and the scope of the risk indicators is described in the following.

1.2. Current Ecotoxicological Risk Profiles of lonic Liquids

Generally, risk analyses of chemical substances are carried out along the paradigm of comparing daily intake or exposure concentrations with reference doses or effect concentrations, respectively.²³ This concept of an absolute risk analysis requires that a certain minimal set of data about both exposure and effects of a chemical under scrutiny is available. Since the large majority of ILs is still in a very early phase in the development process of a new industrial chemical, it is not yet clear which of them will ever be produced on an industrial scale. Thus, a more flexible method of risk analysis is needed that can be applied to substances with sparse and heterogeneous data availability.

Such a method has been devised for a comparative risk evaluation of chemical substances based on five risk indicators forming ecotoxicological risk profiles for each substance.^{24,25} These risk indicators and their interrelation with the development cycle of chemical substances are shown in Figure 2, and they will be introduced below. At the same time, this graph and the underlying concept of an ecotoxicological risk define the scope of this review. The technosphere simply stands for all technically controlled systems. An ecotoxicological risk is constituted by a potential release of chemical substances from any of these systems, if this release is under the influence of a conscious decision.

The decisions that we want to inform with comparative ecotoxicological risk profiles are generally decisions about the selection of chemical substances for a specific technical purpose. As the characteristics of a potential release are highly dependent on the type of technical application for which the substance is considered, it is impossible to derive ecotoxicological risk profiles that are valid for all the multitude of (potential) applications that have been described or will be described for ionic liquids. Therefore, this review can only aim to systematically gather and interpret the relevant information, so decisions on the use of ionic liquids can be made on a case by case basis.

1.2.1. Release

Most information about potential releases due to the decision that a specific substance is being used will be application specific rather than chemical specific. However, there are certain intrinsic properties of chemicals that make a release more or less likely. One example of such a property is its vapor pressure, which has already been mentioned above. Furthermore, a risk relevant release from a technically controlled system can be caused not only by the substance itself but also by its impurities—products of thermal decomposition or of other transformation reactions within the technical system. The tendency of all of these to be released has to be taken into account.



Figure 1. Iterative scheme for the development of sustainable chemical products. Adapted from ref 19.



Figure 2. Graphical illustration of the risk management cycle and its correlation with the ecotoxicological risk indicators. Adapted from ref 25.

1.2.2. Spatiotemporal Range

Chemical products should be designed so that at the end of their function they do not persist in the environment and break down into innocuous degradation products.

Green Chemistry Principle³ No. 10

The spatiotemporal range component of an ecotoxicological risk describes the tendency of the potentially released substance and its environmental transformation products to spread in space and time. The quantification of a spatiotemporal range is generally already a very complex task. As we have argued above, several substances can be released due to the application of one single substance (and all of them can be further transformed in the environment). But also the environment itself is made up of so many different chemical milieus, and there are so many possibilities for transport and reaction, that the term overcomplexity has been introduced as a property of environmental systems.²⁶ An operational definition that has been proposed earlier for the spatiotemporal range indicator is the joint residence time of the primary substance and its transformation products in a spatially and chemically defined environmental system, under the assumption of steady-state.²⁵ While this operationalization is equivalent to the definition of a joint persistence, as introduced by Fenner et al.,²⁷ the spatiotemporal range can alternatively be quantified by different ad hoc methods, as oftentimes either an appropriate environmental fate model is lacking or the substance specific data are not available.

1.2.3. Bioaccumulation

The bioaccumulation potential of a substance is frequently evaluated using either the partitioning constant between

1-octanol and water (log K_{ow}) or the bioconcentration factor (BCF), ideally describing the steady-state concentration in fish tissue in relation to the concentration in the surrounding medium. Neither 1-octanol nor living fish tissue is a really satisfying biochemically representative phase for living organic matter in the environment. Therefore, an alternative, more general definition of bioaccumulation has been proposed,²⁵ interpreting bioaccumulation as the quotient of the capacities of the global pool of living organic matter and the remainder of the natural environment. This capacity factor can be expressed by the quotient of the total mass of the substance including transformation products²⁸ in living organisms in steady-state, $m_{\rm bio}$, divided by their steady-state mass in the environment, m_{env} . Using this definition for bioaccumulation, the available $\log K_{ow}$ and BCF data of primary substances and transformation products will still be the most important input for its assessment. The reason is that frequently no other data are available. The remaining uncertainty caused by their limited significance for an evaluation of true bioaccumulation has to be kept in mind.

1.2.4. Biological Activity

Wherever practicable, synthetic methodologies should be designed to use and generate substances that possess little or no toxicity to human health and the environment.

Green Chemistry Principle³ No. 3

Green chemistry is often thought of as chemistry using nontoxic chemicals. This means in turn that toxicological expertise and practice must be an integral part of the competence of scientists working on green chemistry. In reality, some contributions to green chemistry do not mention risk related properties of the chemicals at all, or treat toxicity as if it were a physical property. This indicates that not all green chemistry authors are aware of the multitude of toxicological and ecotoxicological end points that can be used for an assessment of toxicity, mirroring the biochemical, biological, and ecological diversity of living beings.

Besides the large variety of different toxicological end points, it should be noted that it is advantageous to define risk indicators that are independent of each other. This means that instead of using the indicators bioaccumulation and toxicity, which generally correlate, biological activity is preferably defined as the activity of chemical substances that are already taken up into an organism. The concepts of critical body residue, lethal body burden, internal effect concentrations, toxic ratio, and intrinsic toxicity^{29–33} aim for such an assessment strategy. An operational definition of biological activity that fulfills this requirements, and has the further advantage of being additive, is the definition based on critical dilution factors r^{crit} , meaning the biomass needed to dilute a defined amount of substance to a level not producing any observable chronic effect. The biological activity of the released substances and their environmental transformation products is then defined as the weighted mean of the critical dilution factors of a chemical in all types of biomass taken into consideration. The weights are the fractions $f_{i,j}$ of substance *i* in biomass type *j*, as expressed by

$$f_{i,j} = m_{i,j}/m_{\rm bio}$$

where $m_{i,j}$ is the mass of substance *i* in biomass type *j* and $\sum_{i,j} f_{i,j} = 1$. Index *i* covers the original substance as well as impurities and environmental transformation products (including metabolic transformation products that have been produced by other organisms), and the joint biological activity *A* can then be defined by²⁸

$$A = \log \sum_{i,j} f_{i,j} r^{\operatorname{crit}}_{i,j}$$

As critical dilution factors are not available as such in the literature, they are approximated by subtracting bioaccumulation effects from toxicity or ecotoxicity data. This can generally only be done in a semiquantitative way. However, we feel that it is better to estimate relevant risk indicators than to work with less relevant data, even if they are more easily obtained and better defined.

1.2.5. Uncertainty

The uncertainty indicator U is defined as the resulting uncertainty from the evaluation of the four preceding risk indicators. While a quantitative measure has recently been proposed for the uncertainty indicator,³⁴ it will be sufficient in this review to regard the range of the perceivable indicator values for each substance for each indicator and to take the mean of these ranges as the overall uncertainty, as proposed earlier.^{24,25}

1.3. Thinking in Structure–Activity Relationships (T-SAR)

The structural variety of ionic liquids, defined as compounds exclusively composed of ions that are liquid at temperatures below 100 °C, has been repeatedly pointed out. In order to reduce the complexity of this structural variety, we have proposed to use the structural elements "cation head group", "cation side chain(s)", and "anion" for a structural description.³⁵ If the influences of these structural elements on technical and (eco)toxicological risk indicators could be assessed in a general manner and independent of each other, they could be used for estimations of risk indicators for untested ionic liquids. It has even been proposed that specific technicophores, toxicophores, and ecotoxicophores may be identified,¹⁹ as substructures that are responsible for the pertinent properties. In light of this terminology, it is interesting to ask if technicophores and (eco)toxicophores are sufficiently distinct from one another so that they can be independently optimized.



Figure 3. Structure-activity relationship (SAR) triangle. Adapted from ref 9.

The importance of stereochemistry, molecular interaction potentials, and reactivity for structure—activity relationships has been illustrated in the structure—activity relationship (SAR) triangle, as shown in Figure 3. It also shows the indirect influence of reactivity via transformation products (metabolites) and via interactions with biological macromolecules.

If we imagine the enormous amount of resources that would be needed to test each substance in each potentially relevant test system, the advantage of obtaining generalized knowledge along these lines becomes obvious. Therefore, in addition to the review of the published information available on each of the risk indicators listed above, we will report to what degree this information has been or can be rationalized in terms of such structure—activity relationships.

Many structure–activity relationships either are linear free energy relationships (LFERs) or are closely related to them. The potential reduction of evaluation complexity that can be offered by single parameter LFERs such as the wellknown narcosis QSARs for aquatic toxicity, but also by more elaborated free energy relationships leading to concepts such as the critical body residue or to multiparameter LFERs, leads us to focus our attention on studies allowing for conclusions related to such theories.^{29,30,36,37}

In summary, we propose to compare ionic liquids to organic solvents and ionic surfactants regarding five risk indicators:

- release,
- spatiotemporal range,
- bioaccumulation,
- biological activity, and
- uncertainty

In this process, thinking in structure—activity relationships (T-SAR) is used in order to gather risk relevant information that is as general as possible.

2. Release from Technical Systems

Of the five ecotoxicological risk indicators defined above, the release indicator is the one whose evaluation suffers most from lacking knowledge about the technical systems in which the ionic liquids will be used. Therefore, it is only possible at this point to summarize the characteristics of certain ILs which will influence their potential release from technical systems.

One of the most important scenarios of ionic liquid application in general is its use in chemical production processes. From the above definition of the release indicator, the solid waste stream will not directly contribute to the release, since it will either directly go to a landfill or end up as slag/ash after incineration. We assume the landfill to be an engineered landfill and thus a technically controlled system. Therefore, waste gas and wastewater are the release relevant streams, obviously stemming from a wide variety of technical processes, and they will be considered further. Additionally, a direct release of ionic liquids to soils, surface water, or groundwater could result from accidents, as soon as significant amounts of the ionic liquids are transported by rail, truck, or ships, or if they are incorporated in consumer products, which are generally subject to considerably less technical control than chemical processing facilities.

2.1. Gaseous Release

In general, ionic substances are not expected to occur in gaseous phases, and therefore, ionic liquids are not expected to occur in gaseous waste streams or other gaseous releases. It has recently been shown that ionic liquids do occur in the gas phase, based on the observations that three 1-alkyl-3methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethyl)sulfonylimides (bistriflamide) could be distilled at 200-300 °C and 0.1 mbar at appreciable rates and also that several other ILs, including tetraalkylammonium bistriflamides (where a proton transfer from cation to anion and thus a transport via uncharged molecular species is not conceivable), were distilled at unpublished rates under similar conditions.³⁸ However, a waste gas stream operating at such conditions will hardly occur, so a release by this mechanism seems unlikely. It has also been shown that, for 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride-AlCl₃ systems with a high excess of AlCl₃, the neutral species Al₂Cl₆ exerted a measurable vapor pressure above 193 °C.³⁹ Of course it can be argued that such a liquid is not strictly an ionic liquid any more, because of the presence of the neutral Al₂Cl₆ species. In the case of an operation of such melts at such elevated temperatures, this release pathway has nevertheless to be kept in mind.

In the latter case, the ions making up the ILs are not vaporized, but rather the neutral products of an equilibrium reaction are affected by elevated temperatures. Just as ionic liquids can directly be obtained by reaction of a base (most often an amine base) and a (possibly functionalized) alkyl halide in an equilibrium reaction, this equilibrium can simply be shifted toward the reverse direction at high temperatures, leading back to a base and the organohalide. For the case of some tetraalkylammonium ILs, strong indications for such an equilibrium shift have been reported.⁴⁰ Investigations of volatile emissions from ionic liquids at temperatures from 180 to 250 °C carried out in our own group (unpublished results) have shown that anions with moderate nucleophilicity, such as chloride, tetrafluoroborate, and bromide, statistically produce an increase in volatile compounds,

detected by flame ionization detection as pentadecane equivalents, between 15 and 70 mg/g, while methylsulfonate, butylsulfonate, octylsulfonate, trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate, and bis(pentafluoroethyl)phosphinate did not show such an influence. It has to be noted, however, that the anion type only explained around 20% of the total variability in volatiles in these analyses, which seems mainly to be due to differences in washing, drying, and other purification steps. Other observations pointing to decomposition reactions involving nucleophilic halide species are the dependence of the thermogravimetric onset temperature on the anion type⁴¹ as well as the susceptibility of the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium cation to reaction with several organic nucleophiles.⁴² Also, the cation type and, at least in the case of the hexafluorophosphate anion, the presence of aluminum have an influence on the thermal stability.⁴¹ These observations and the fact that long-term, isothermal thermogravimetric analyses have shown that decomposition to volatiles does occur, e.g., for 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate at 0.013 wt %/min at 250 °C,17 clearly show that gaseous release from ionic liquids has to be taken into account at elevated process temperatures. A comprehensive overview of thermal degradation processes has been given in the recent review by Scammels et al.¹⁵

2.2. Ionic Liquids in Wastewater

Wastewater from chemical production processes, as well as landfill leachate, will in general be subject to wastewater treatment. For wastewaters carrying organic carbon, a biological unit is commonly used. Other common treatment processes are wet oxidation and reverse osmosis. While the retention of the relatively large ions used in ionic liquids in reverse osmosis processes does not seem problematic, their complete removal from wastewater streams by wet oxidation is less obvious. Stepnowski and Zaleska investigated three different advanced oxidation processes for the degradation of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium cations. The best results were obtained with a combination of UV light and 0.5% hydrogen peroxide, where 85% of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium was removed after 360 min.43 Morawski et al. investigated the oxidation of a larger variety of ionic liquids under the influence of UV light and in the presence of TiO₂ and found removal rates between 30 and 73% total organic carbon, as well as some structural influence of alkyl chain length, functional groups, and anion type on removal efficiencies.44 Pernak and co-workers have also reported on the possible removal of conventional quaternary nitrogen ILs, alkoxy-3-methylimidazolium and dialkoxyimidazolium ILs, by oxidation with KMnO₄, with a permanganate index ranging from 1.4 (N-butyl-4-methylpyridinium tetrafluoroborate) to 11.1 (1,3-di(pentyloxymethyl)imidazolium tetrafluoroborate). Apparently, the anions are not oxidized under these conditions and the water immiscible dialkoxyimidazolium bistriflamides prevented measurement of the permanganate index.⁴⁵ It might be interesting to note that the permanganate index is generally used for the determination of the quality of potable and surface water. Since 3 mmol of each ionic liquid was used, the permanganate index indicates the amount of oxidizable carbon in each cation/ anion combination, which easily explains the observed chain length dependency but puts the relevance of the permanganate index for wastewater treatment into question, since it was not related to the theoretically possible consumption of oxidizing agent. Nevertheless, we generally assume that any remaining oxidation products are more hydrophilic and less toxic than the original cations. We are not aware of removal methods proposed for largely hydrolytically stable ionic liquid anions such as bistriflamide and trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate. Very recently, Li et al. have reported the chemical oxidation of 1,3-dialkylimidazolium ionic liquids by hydrogen peroxide assisted by ultrasonic irradiation.⁴⁶ They observed nearly 99% conversion at 50 °C after 72 h, which was independent of the side chain length (ethyl to hexyl) and the anion (Cl⁻, Br⁻, BF₄⁻, and PF₆⁻). They also identified degradation products via GC-MS, and they propose a mechanistic pathway to the final degradation products such as acetoxyacetic acid and biurea.

Concerning biological wastewater treatment, continuous (CAS) and semicontinuous (SCAS) activated sludge tests have been devised to test the elimination of organic chemicals in such treatment facilities.⁴⁷ The only information available about the behavior of ionic liquids in such tests is actually on surfactants that seem to have a melting point lower than 100 °C (see above) but are not known as ionic liquids. For example, benzyldimethylhexadecylammonium chloride was completely eliminated in the "coupled units test" (OECD 303 A, before revision in 2001) up to an effluent concentration of 1 mg/L, with an elimination rate still reaching 77% at 20 mg/L effluent concentration⁴⁸ (consistent with earlier work by Gerike et al.). It has to be noted, however, that these tests include a sludge separation step to simulate the sludge separation step in full scale facilities.⁴⁷ Therefore, elimination in these tests is due to both sorption and degradation. Generally, data on the removal of QACs in wastewater treatment have shown that the removal of nontoxic levels should exceed 90%.²¹ Although a fairly extensive degradation of benzyldimethylhexadecylammonium under somewhat optimized conditions has been shown by radioactive labeling,⁴⁹ it has been found by measurements⁵⁰ and modeling⁵¹ that removal by sorption could account for 8-29% for benzyldimethylhexadecylammonium bromide, benzyldimethyldodecylammonium chloride, and benzyldimethyldecylammonium chloride²¹ or for 9.5-71.2% for di(hydrogenated tallow)-dimethyl ammonium chloride.52 Such removal by sorption would lead to anaerobic sludge processing, incineration, or landfilling of the residual material. If it is assumed that these post-treatment processes are technically controlled to a high degree and releases from them are negligible, we still have to assume a release of up to ten percent of the ammonium cations from ILs entering wastewater treatment facilities via their effluent water. This percentage could also be higher in several cases:

Toxic levels of ionic liquid cations with one or more long alkyl chains may be reached to which the sludge microorganisms are not acclimated. Wells and Coombe have recently shown that the ILs 1-hexadecyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride, 1-octadecyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride, and trihexyltetradecylphosphonium chloride and ECOENG(R) 500 inhibited glucose/glutamate biodegradation of sludge bacteria to 100% at 10, 1, 10, and 10 mg/L, respectively.⁵³ At these levels, toxicity of benzalkonium toward sludge metabolic capacity has been observed, if no acclimation was performed.⁴⁸ This is consistent with the observation⁵⁴ that while the cytotoxicity of a large variety of typical ionic liquid cations is generally lower than the cytotoxicity of benzalkonium cations, the cytotoxicity of the trihexyltetradecylphosphonium, octylchinolinium, 1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium, and 1-decyl-2-ethylimidazolium cations (and longer

chain imidazolium cations; see the section on biological activity below) is comparable to that of benzalkonium chloride (EC₅₀ values smaller than 10 μ M). We suggest that these cytotoxicity values are proxy measures also for toxicity toward microorganisms, as they correlate well with inhibition of luminescent bacteria.55,56 Further evidence that sludge microorganisms could be inhibited by long chain ionic liquid cations is provided by the studies of Pernak and co-workers, showing that some long chain ionic liquid cations, among them the 1-dodecvloxymethylimidazolium cation, reach the same level of antimicrobial activity as benzalkonium chloride, when judged by their minimum inhibitory concentrations against Gram-positive cocci.57 While the analogy to QACs suggests that under normal circumstances they are unlikely to pose a significant risk of toxicity to microorganisms in wastewater treatment systems, a sudden increase in levels of toxic ILs in wastewater could affect sludge microorganisms and lead to a breakthrough, similar to the case proposed for QACs.21

The second possibility of higher release rates than 10% of the influent would be a significantly lower sorption of the ILs as compared to the case of typical cationic surfactant QACs. For many ionic liquid cations, this seems quite likely, since, in principle, lipophilicity dominates sorption to organic matter, and their lipophilicity as established by gradient HPLC is generally much lower than that of benzalkonium cations, with the exception of trihexyltetradecylphosphonium, which showed higher lipophilicity.⁵⁴

A third possibility of increased release rates would be a lower inherent biodegradability of the ionic liquid cations as compared to typical QACs. The term "inherent biodegradability" (OECD tests 301 A-F) is used in contrast to "ready biodegradability" (OECD tests 302 A-C). Testing for inherent biodegradability is less stringent than that for ready biodegradability, because either the inoculum is allowed to acclimate to the tested substance, or the amount of inoculum is higher, or both. While we are not aware of any data on inherent biodegradability of ionic liquids, several publications have reported results from tests for ready or even ultimate biodegradability.53,58-62 This information is summarized in Table 1, together with data for two surfactants and five conventional solvents for comparison. It must be noted that none of these studies investigate toxicity during the incubation period, so the possibility of a toxification by metabolization has not been empirically excluded in any of these cases.

Comparison of IL degradability with the degradability of one of the main compounds in benzalkonium chloride, benzyldimethyldodecylammonium chloride, shows that while conventional ionic liquid cations with unmodified alkyl groups as side chains generally are less biodegradable than this compound, the degradability of the imidazolium ILs with ester side chains reaches a similar level. Imidazolium ILs with an ester side chain and the octylsulfate anion that were specifically designed for degradability can even be classified as ultimately biodegradable, since CO₂ evolution reaches levels higher than 60% of the theoretical maximum.⁶¹ Together, the data suggest that only the ester side chain and the octylsulfate are degraded in the 28 ready biodegradability test, while the imidazolium ring seems to stay intact under these conditions. This is confirmed by the recent study of Docherty et al.,⁶² showing that 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ILs are not readily biodegradable and can only be partially mineralized, even if extending the incubation period past the standard 28 days. NMR analyses showed that the imidazo-

Table 1. Biodegradability of Ionic Liquids in Ready Biodegradability Screening Tests Using Activated Sludge in Comparison to Surfactants and Conventional Solvents

name	closed bottle OECD 301 D	CO ₂ -headspace ISO 14593	others
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate	0% 59		0%a
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate	0-3% 59,61	$0-3\%^{61}$	070
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide	0-3% 59,61	$0-3\%^{61}$	0%
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride	0 570	0 370	$0\%^a$
1 butylpyridinium chloride			0%
1 boxyl 2 methylimidezelium bromide			5 4 04 b
1 octul 2 mothylimidazolium bromida			J470 A 104 b
1 butul 2 mathulauridinium bromide			4170 00/ C
1 hourd 2 methylpyridinium bromide			$0\%^{2}$
1 ootul 2 mothulauridiaium baamida			$\sim 30\%^{\circ,\circ}$
1-octy1-5-methy1pyriainium bronnide			90%
metnyitrioctylammonium bistriflamide			0%"
ethyltributylphosphonium diethylphosphate			9%"
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium bromide			
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate	1 6 0 0 1 50		
1-[(3-alkyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium	$\sim 16 - 22\%^{39}$		
bromide, alkyl = methy, ethyl, propyl	a a a a a s s 50		
1-[(3-alkyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium	$\sim 28 - 32\%^{39}$		
bromide, $alkyl = butyl$, pentyl, hexyl, octyl			
1-butylcarbamoylmethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide	$\sim 0\%^{59}$		
1-[(butylmethylcarbamoyl)methyl]-3-methylimidazolium bromide	$\sim 0\%^{59}$		
1-dimethylcarbamoylmethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide	$\sim 0\%^{59}$		
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium salts: bromide, tetrafluoroborate,	<5%60		
hexafluorophosphate, bistriflamide, dicyanamide			
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium octylsulfate	$25\%^{60}$		
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium salts: bromide,	$\sim 10 - 34\%^{60}$		
tetrafluoroborate, hexafluorophosphate, bistriflamide, dicyanamide			
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium octylsulfate	$49\%^{60}$		
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium bromide	$24\%^{61}$	$24\%^{61}$	
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-2,3-dimethylimidazolium bromide	23%61	nd	
1-[(2-pentyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium bromide	32%61	$41\%^{61}$	
1-[(2-pentyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-2,3-dimethylimidazolium bromide	33%61	nd	
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium octylsulfate	49% ⁶¹	64% ⁶¹	
1-[(3-propyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-2,3-dimethylimidazolium octylsulfate	55% ⁶¹	$62\%^{61}$	
1-[(2-pentyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-3-methylimidazolium octylsulfate	54% ⁶¹	$67\%^{61}$	
1-[(2-pentyloxy)-2-oxoethyl]-2,3-dimethylimidazolium octylsulfate	56% ⁶¹	$61\%^{61}$	
sodium dodecvlsulfate	$\sim 70\%^{59,60}$.	$\sim 90\%^{61}$	
	$\sim 80\%^{61}$		
benzyldimethyldodecylammonium chloride			\sim 50%, ^d
			$\sim 80\%^{e}$
acetone			$\sim 70 - 80\%^{f}$
acetonitrile			$30 - 100\%^{g}$
dichloromethane			$0-92\%^{126}$
			completely ⁷⁶
<i>tert</i> -butyl methyl ether			$\sim 1\%^{76;126}$
tetrahydrofuran			$0-64\%^{77}$
······································		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

^{*a*} Manometric respirometry test (OECD 301 F).⁵³ ^{*b*} DOC die-away test (OECD 301).⁶² ^{*c*} Initial concentration 10 mg/L.⁴⁸ ^{*d*} 97% after 38 days. ^{*e*} Initial concentration 2.5 mg/L.⁴⁸ ^{*f*} Incubation time > 5 days.⁷⁶ ^{*g*} Incubation time > 5 days.⁷⁷

lium ring remained intact while the hexyl and octyl side chains were partially degraded. In this study, it was also shown that 1-octyl-3-methylpyridinium bromide is readily biodegradable according the OECD definition, and they could show that the pyridinium ring was metabolized. They found no evidence of metabolization of 1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium bromide.

Some additional information is available on the biodegradability of typical ionic liquid anions in wastewater treatment facilities. Sodium dodecylsulfate (SDS) is used as a readily biodegradable reference in screening tests, and SDS as well as alkyl sulfonate were consistently biodegradable in a method comparison study.⁶³ Similarly, sodium methyl sulfate was found to be biodegradable.⁵³ Furthermore, from the data in Table 1, the positive influence of the octylsulfate anion on biodegradability is obvious. On the other hand, biodegradation of the free acid of the bistriflamide anion was not observed,⁵³ and biodegradation of tetrafluoroborate and hexafluorophosphate anions is not to be expected. Overall, a potential release of ionic liquid cations and anions from wastewater treatment facilities cannot be excluded based on the currently available information. We have to note that, in particular, the commonly used 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium cation will likely not be retained in common wastewater treatment facilities, because of its low hydrophobicity and low biodegradability. Also, inorganic anions such as tetrafluoroborate and hexafluorophosphate might not be sufficiently retained, because of their lack of biodegradability and unknown sorption to sewage sludge.

2.3. Accidental Releases to Soil or Water

As the third major potential release pathway, the accidental release of the pure ionic liquid has to be taken into account. The probability of such a release will mainly be dependent on factors that are not specific to ionic liquids. However, the probability of accidents with ILs that tend to decompose to gaseous products such as, e.g., bis(trifluoromethyl)imide ILs (personal communication by N. V. Ignat'ev) will be elevated because of the potential of a pressure buildup.

2.4. Uncertainty of Release Estimates

As mentioned above, the evaluation of the release of ionic liquids suffers from a lack of information about the exact future use scenarios of ionic liquids. However, it was illustrated that, depending on the thermal stability and the presence of nucleophiles, gaseous releases from Ls can occur at elevated temperatures and that there is a potential release of ILs via wastewater treatment that (a) are highly toxic to sewage sludge microorganisms, or (b) are weakly sorbing to sewage sludge, or (c) possess a low biodegradability, or (d) show a combination of these factors. Even in the case of the methylimidazolium octylsulfates with an ester side chain, the release of an environmentally relevant refractory degradation product of the cation cannot be excluded, noting that the CO₂ evolution only surpasses 60% in combination with the readily biodegradable octylsulfate anion.

3. Information Regarding the Spatiotemporal Range of Ionic Liquids

The first task in evaluating the spatiotemporal range of a group of substances is to characterize their abiotic and biotic degradation pathways and kinetics in the various environmental systems. As gaseous releases from ionic liquids are a special case and the chemical composition of the potentially released gases is not known, we will not treat them further at this point, except that we note that they will add to their spatiotemporal range as well as to the uncertainty of their spatiotemporal range.

Ionic liquids themselves will mainly be released to surface water and soils. We therefore start with a summary of the knowledge which has become available on abiotic and biotic degradation in water and soil compartments. Then, the tendency to evade degradation processes by sorption to solid matter is described.

Generally, the ionic nature of the ionic liquid constituents will lead to a largely independent fate of cations and anions in natural environments, as soon as they have been dissolved in water.

3.1. Abiotic Hydrolysis of Ionic Liquid Constituents

It was an important step in the history of ionic liquids to overcome the hydrolytic instability of the chloroaluminate melts which directly preceded the era of todays ILs.⁶⁴ The AlCl₃-based anions in such melts have been largely replaced by a large variety of anions. Here we summarize information on hydrolysis that has been published on the most prominent anions in the ionic liquid literature. Of course, in the context of an ecotoxicological risk analysis, a remaining tendency to hydrolyze would be a positive feature, since it would reduce the spatiotemporal range of the anions in aqueous environments. On the other hand, the environmental relevance of hydrolysis products has to be evaluated, if they are not obviously harmless. Ionic liquid cations are generally not subjected to abiotic hydrolysis. There is, however, one report showing that the stability of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride in aqueous solution is limited to the pH range from 6 to 10.65

The hexafluorophosphate anion has been characterized as hydrolytically stable in comparison to $AlCl_3$ systems⁶⁴ and

also in comparison to AsF₆ and SbF₆ anions.⁶⁶ However, its hydrolysis has been proven by the presence of HF in the crystal structure of hexafluorophosphate ionic liquids and the formation of HF has been recognized as a risk by the group of R. Rogers.⁶⁷ Hydrolysis of the hexafluorophosphate anion has also been subject to earlier investigations in the context of Li PF₆ as an electrolyte for rechargeable batteries. A recent mechanistic study concludes that the hydrolysis of Li PF₆ is acid catalyzed and that the formation of HF during hydrolysis leads to acid conditions which autocatalytically increase the rate of hydrolysis.⁶⁸ This might be the cause for observations that glassware containing hexafluorophosphate ionic liquids can be punctually dissolved if hydrolysis occurs (Urs Welz-Biermann, personal communication). The study of Platovnik and co-workers also gives the hydrolysis products PO₂F₂⁻ and PO₃F₂⁻, which apparently are much more stable toward hydrolysis in weakly alkaline solutions.68

Two comparative studies of the hydrolytic stability of the hexafluorophosphate and tetrafluoroborate anions have found a faster hydrolysis of the tetrafluoroborate anion.^{69,70} Baker and Baker have also included the anions trifluorotris-(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate and bistriflamide into their comparative study, which were the most stable but still caused a pH shift at 50 °C.70 Hydrolysis of bistriflamide ions would probably lead to the xenobiotic and possibly environmentally relevant trifluoromethylsulfonate anion. Ignat'ev et al. reported the hydrolytic stability of the trifluorotris-(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate anion over 5 h at 100 °C.⁷¹ Our own studies with oxoborate complexes as ionic liquid anions have shown that they are not stable in water. In particular, the bis [1,2-benzenediolato(2-)-O,O'] borate anion yields brown to black solutions, which we explain by the known autoxidative polymerization of the hydrolysis product catechol (unpublished results).

Finally, the hydrolytic instability of lower homologues of alkylsulfate anions at 80 °C led Wasserscheid and co-workers to choose the octylsulfate anion as a hydrolytically stable alternative to the halogen containing anions cited above.¹⁸

3.2. Photodegradation

Stepnowski and Zaleska have investigated the direct photolysis of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium cations by UV irradiation. Using HPLC analysis of the cations, they found primary photodegradation between 15 and 55% after 6 h.

3.3. Biodegradation in the Environment

The data that have been generated on ready biodegradability and ultimate biodegradability was already discussed above in the context of IL degradability in wastewater treatment. Gathergood, Scammels, and co-workers have shown that 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ionic liquids are better degradable if the alkyl chain is functionalized with an ester group. It must however be noted that the bromides of these cations are not readily biodegradable,⁵⁹⁻⁶¹ so it has to be assumed that, in the 28 day test, metabolites were formed that are refractory to some degree. While 1-butylpyridinium and 1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium bromides, as well as tributylethylphosphonium diethylphosphate, were not readily metabolized, the degradation of the pyridinium ring was shown for 1-octyl-3-methylpyridinium.⁶² Among the quaternary ammonium compounds used as cationic surfactants, alkylpyridinium compounds have been found to be the least biodegradable, with generally lower biodegradability

than dialkyldimethylammonium and alkyldimethylbenzylammonium quaternaries, which are still less biodegradable than monoalkyltrimethylammonium quaternaries.⁴⁷ Summarizing IL cation biodegradability, we state that while several ionic liquid cations show low biodegradability, medium chain length alkylpyridinium cations seem to be good candidates for creating readily biodegradable ionic liquids.

Concerning the anions, methylsulfate and octylsulfate show the best biodegradability of the more frequently used IL anions. Research on anionic surfactants has shown⁷² that linear alkylsulfates show excellent biodegradability, and linear alkylsulfonates show good biodegradability, as do linear alkylbenzene sulfonates, that are in use in high volumes as detergents but have also been used for the preparation of ionic liquids. No information was found on the chemical behavior of the typical fluorine-containing ionic liquid anions in organisms. The increased stability of the bistriflamide and the trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate anions toward abiotic hydrolysis and the fact that they do not contain structural features that are known to be biodegraded⁴⁷ suggest that these and similar anions will presumably not be biodegraded when released to the natural environment.

Comparison to conventional molecular solvents (Table 1) shows that MTBE is also not readily biodegradable in typical screening tests, while acetone, acetonitrile, and dichloromethane have been mainly found to be readily biodegradable under such conditions. It might be worthy to note that more detailed studies on the aerobic degradation of MTBE have shown that under certain conditions degradation can be observed, but the high release rates of this compounds in its function as a gasoline additive and its slow degradation in subsurface groundwater have caused concern (compare the review by Deeb et al.⁷³).

3.4. Sorption to Minerals and Organic Matter

Only recently, a few studies of sorption of 1-alkyl-3methylimidazolium cations to various materials important for their geochemical behavior were published. From the analogy to long-chain QACs, we expect that at least the long chain ionic liquid cations will show strong and rapid sorption to natural soils and sediments.²¹ This behavior has actually been found in the so far most comprehensive study of Stepnowski,⁷⁴ who investigated the sorption behavior of 1-propyl-3-methylimidazolium, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium, 1-pentyl-3-methylimidazolium, 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium, and 1-butyl-3-ethylimidazolium cations applied as tetrafluoroborate salts. The highest sorption, with a K_D value of 2467 L kg⁻¹, was found for the sorption of 1-hexyl-3butylimidazolium to a sea sediment from the southern Baltic Sea. Also for the three investigated soil types, sorption of 1-hexyl-3-butylimidazolium was higher as compared to that of the other cations investigated. The author suggests that the influence of the mineral content of soils and sediments on sorption is more important than the influence of their content of organic matter. Matzke et al. have recently presented sorption experiments with different amounts of smectite and kaolinite added to a standard soil, supporting that both organic matter content and clay mineral content foster sorption of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium to soils, while 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium sorption was greater than 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium sorption. In the same study it could be shown that addition of smectite, being an expanding lattice clay, increases sorption to soils more than addition of kaolinite. Similar differences have previously been observed in the older literature for QACs, although it is unclear if the mechanism of intercalation of QACs into swelling clay is also available to dialkyl quaternaries.²¹

It is commonly assumed that electrostatic interactions between negatively charged mineral surfaces and large organic cations mainly contribute to their sorption. It can be added that although the limited influence of soil organic matter content suggests that interactions with the soil organic matter do not significantly contribute to the sorption behavior,⁷⁴ the smaller water solubility and therefore the higher activity coefficient of the more lipophilic cations still explains the observed dependence of sorption strength on alkyl chain length. A further study of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride sorption to bacteria, gibbsite (positive surface charge), quartz (negative surface charge), and montmorillonite revealed sorption only to the montmorillonite, with $K_{\rm D}$ values of 1735 and 1133 L kg⁻¹ for ionic strengths of 10⁻¹ and 10⁻⁴ M, respectively.⁶⁵ Very recently, Stepnowski et al. confirmed that sorption of the three cations 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium, 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium, and 1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium to four different soil types is influenced by both cation exchange capacity and organic matter content.⁷⁵ They found sorption to exceed the cation exchange capacity in almost all cases, reflecting the contribution of the hydrophobic side chains to sorption that has been discussed by Schwarzenbach et al. (p 434)³⁶ using alkyl ammonium compounds as an example.

The sorption behavior of ionic liquid anions has not been studied to our knowledge. It is however to be expected that, because of the prevalence of negative surface charges in natural environmental media, sorption of the small anions will generally be much weaker.

Little data is available concerning sorption of conventional molecular solvents to soils and sediments, but it is assumed that sorption is rather low for acetone, acetonitrile, dichloromethane, tetrahydrofuran, and MTBE.^{76,77}

3.5. Uncertainty in the Evaluation of the Spatiotemporal Range of Ionic Liquids

For a reliable evaluation of the spatiotemporal range of ionic liquids, several steps are necessary. First, spatial patterns of their release to the environment would have to be defined. Then a multicompartment model would have to be specified including the compartments most relevant for their potential environmental impact. Finally, the available data on transformation reactions and thermodynamic partitioning, including such data on any environmentally relevant metabolite (e.g., trifluoromethylsulfonate from anion decomposition; see above), would have to be fed to the model.

Both the application of adapted versions of one of the widely used models^{78,79} and the use of tailor-made models for the case of ionic liquids (compare, e.g., a model proposed specifically for the global fate of antifouling biocides⁸⁰) could be envisaged. Special attention would have to be paid to the fact that some of the more hazardous ionic liquid constituents will be surface active, so sorption to inner surfaces and other interfacial areas would be of primary importance. At current, no modeling attempts for assessing the spatiotemporal range of ILs in the natural environment have been carried out, resulting in a very high evaluation uncertainty, since the interplay of the different factors, such as biodegradation and

Table 2. Hydrophobicities of Ionic Liquids, Expressed as Cation log k_0 Values Derived from Gradient Retention⁵⁴ and as log K_{ow} Values (Different Sources)

				$\log K_{\rm ow}$	
cation	$\log k_0$	Cl-	$\mathrm{BF_4}^-$	PF_6^-	$(CF_3SO_2)_2N^-$
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium				-1.92 to -1.82^{d}	-1.05 to -0.96^{a}
1-ethyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium					-1.15 to -0.92^{a}
1-carboxypropyl-3-methylimidazolium	-0.08				
1-hydroxybutyl-3-methylimidazolium	-0.06				
1-(3-oxobutyl)-3-methylimidazolium	0				
3-methyl-1-propylimidazolium	0.42				
2,3-dimethyl-1-propylimidazolium					-0.92 to -0.62^{a}
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	0.67	-2.4^{a}	-2.5^{a}	-1.7^{a}	-0.96 to -0.2^{a}
		-0.31^{b}	-2.44°	-2.39°	0.33^{c}
				-2.3 to -1.7^{d}	
1-methyl-3-(phenylmethyl)imidazolium	0.83				
1-(8-hydroxyoctyl)-3-methylimidazolium	0.9				
1-(3-carboxyheptyl)-3-methylimidazolium	0.92				
1-pentyl-3-methylimidazolium	0.92				
1-methyl-3-(phenylethyl)imidazolium	1.01				
1-methyl-3-[(4-methylphenyl)methyl]imidazolium	1.12				
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	1.24			-1.86°	$0.15 - 0.22^{a}$
					0.65^{c}
1-hexyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium	1.37				$0.13 - 0.25^{a}$
1-heptyl-3-methylimidazolium	1.57				
3-octyl-1-methylimidazolium	1.85	-0.27^{b}		-1.33^{c}	$0.8 - 1.05^{a}$
3-methyl-1-nonylimidazolium	2.1				
1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium	2.37	-0.29^{b}			
1-dodecyl-3-methylimidazolium		-0.14^{b}			
1,3-diethylimidazolium	0.09				
1-ethyl-3-propylimidazolium	0.56				
1-ethyl-3-butylimidazolium	0.77				
1-ethyl-3-hexylimidazolium	1.4				
1-ethyl-3-decylimidazolium	2.51				
butylquinolinium	1.06				
hexylquinolinium	1.68				
octylquinolinium	2.22				
1,1-butylmethylpyrrolidinium	0.57				
1,1-hexylmethylpyrrolidinium	1.17				
l,l-methyloctylpyrrolidinium	1.87				
1,1-dihexylpyrolidinium	2.41				
I-butylpyridinium	0.58				
1-butyl-2-methylpyridinium	0.71				
1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium	0.73				
1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium	0.73				
1-butyl-3,4-dimethylpyridinium	0.91				
1-butyl-3,5-dimethylpyridinium	0.93				
1-nexyl-4-methylpyridinium	1.37				
1-octyl-4-metnylpyridinium	1.98				
tetrobutylanninonium	2.32				
tribaryltatedaylphoapharing	2.33				
umexynetradecyipnospnonium honzyldogyldimothylonmonium	0.9				
bonzyldodooyldimethylammonium	2.93				
benzyltetredecyldimethylammonium	J.47 1 00				
oenzyneu auee ynumeuryraininoinum	4.22				

^{*a*} Values from Ropel et al.⁸³ converted to logarithms. ^{*b*} Values obtained from solubility data by Domanska et al.⁸² ^{*c*} Values from Lee et al. and references cited therein.⁸⁴ ^{*d*} Values obtained at 303 K by Choua et al.⁸¹

sorption, can only be judged by intuition to a very limited degree.

4. Ionic Liquid Bioaccumulation

Experimentally determined 1-octanol/water partitioning coefficients of several 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ionic liquids have been reported by several groups^{81–84} and are reproduced in Table 2. Base 10 logarithms of such partition coefficients (log K_{ow} values) range from -2.5 (1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate) to 0.8-1.1 (1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide, concentration dependent). While the values for the single substances sometimes differ by up to 2 orders of magnitude between groups (see Table 2), the values obtained by Ropel et al.⁸³ seem to be carefully

obtained and are consistent with expectations concerning the influence of alkyl chain length and anion hydrophobicity. Differences in absolute values have been related to different concentration ranges investigated⁸³ but could also result from the fact that 1-octanol/water partitioning is strongly dependent on concentration and type of counteranions present,⁸⁵ so that small ionic impurities in water and/or octanol could have a large influence on experimental results. Domanska et al. obtained log K_{ow} values from solubilities of ILs in 1-octanol and water by a "simple, synthetic, visual method",⁸² but the very small range of log K_{ow} values for ILs with cation chain lengths varying from 4 to 12 suggests that their method is not comparable to results from the shake-flask or slow-stirring methods. It must also be noted that if suitable

counterions are present in environmental aqueous phases, partitioning to organic phases would be underestimated by log K_{ow} values determined using deionized water. Divalent, environmentally omnipresent cations such as Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ have been shown to have a larger influence on anion partitioning than monovalent cations.⁸⁵ In general, the counterions relevant for partitioning of hydrophobic ions from water to solid or organic phases in the environment will differ from the ones present in the original ionic liquid, limiting the relevance of ionic liquid K_{ow} values for environmental processes.

A possibly related influence of ionic strength and water hardness on bioaccumulation in fish has been revealed in studies with anionic surfactants.⁸⁶ However, an unambiguous increase for all investigated compounds was only found in the range of low to intermediate hardness.⁸⁷ On the other hand, the presence of increased concentrations of dissolved organic carbon or suspended clay minerals has been shown to decrease surfactant bioconcentration.⁸⁶

According to an estimation method of the bioconcentration factor (BCF) in fish from log K_{ow} values by Meylan et al.,⁸⁸ ionic substances such as carboxylic acids, sulfonates, and quaternary nitrogen compounds with a log K_{ow} value < 1 can be expected to have log BCF values between 0 and 1, corresponding to BCF values between 1 and 10 L kg⁻¹. A recent experimental investigation of the sorption of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium cations to mammalian cells has revealed enrichment factors in cellular material between 2.3 (1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium) and 17 (1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium), that are roughly consistent with this estimate.⁸⁹ These observations suggest that the potential of this group of ILs to bioaccumulate is very low. Transformation products, resulting from metabolic or abiotic reactions, would generally be expected to exhibit even lower bioaccumulation potentials.

In an attempt to overcome the limited environmental relevance of log K_{ow} values for surfactants as well as experimental problems with their determination, Rosen and co-workers have introduced the parameter $\Delta G^{\circ}_{ad}/A_{min}$, where ΔG°_{ad} is the standard free energy of adsorption of a surfactant to the air/water interface and Amin is the minimum crosssectional area of a surfactant.^{90,91} This parameter is a hydrophobicity measure that is independent of ionic strength and counterions present in the experimental system. Interestingly, it correlates well with aquatic toxicity values for algae and rotifers across the investigated cationic, nonionic, and anionic surfactants, as well as with bioconcentration factors of anionic surfactants.92 Since its calculation is merely based on surface tension measurements at varying surfactant concentrations, without the necessity of concentration measurement as necessary for direct $\log K_{ow}$ determinations by the shake-flask or slow-stirring methods, the use of this parameter for the constituents of ionic liquids should be evaluated.

Stepnowski and Storoniak have suggested using the group contribution method by Hansch and Leo⁹³ for estimating log K_{ow} values for ionic liquids.⁹⁴ However, since the imidazolium cation is not covered by the original method, they resorted to using the fragment constant for the nitrogen in quaternary ammonium compounds for both of the nitrogens in the imidazolium ring. While the resulting log *P* parameters should not be used as absolute estimates of experimental log K_{ow} values because of this, they do provide a measure of lipophilicity, in analogy to the log *P* values proposed for



Figure 4. Relationship between the chromatographically derived cation hydrophobicity parameter log k_0 and cytotoxicity toward a rat cell line. The cation acronyms used in the legend are as follows: IM1X = 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium, IM2X = 1-alkyl-3-ethylimidazolium, QuinX = 1-alkylquinolinium, PyrX = 1-alkylpyrolidinium, PyrX = 1-alkylpyridinium, N4444 = tetrabutylammonium, N11-X-1Ph = alkylbenzyldimethylammonium, P4444 = tetraalkylphosphonium, P666-14 = trihexyltetradecylphosphonium.

surfactants by Roberts.^{95,96} Stepnowski and Storoniak have also shown the correlation of their log *P* parameter to the chromatographic capacity factor log $k'_{\rm w}$ derived from isocratic elution from immobilized artificial membranes for four 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium cations.⁹⁴

Only recently, Ranke et al. have published hydrophobicity parameters log k_0 for a variety of 44 different ionic liquid cations derived from gradient reversed phase HPLC.⁵⁴ They are listed together with the published log K_{ow} values in Table 2. The log K_{ow} values for the organic reference solvents are between -0.77 (methanol) and 2.73 (toluene).

These log k_0 values of the cations are readily obtained, provided that a gradient HPLC system with a suitable detection method is available. They also correlate well with the cytotoxicities of their salts with small anions such as chloride, bromide, tetrafluoroborate, and hexafluorophosphate (Figure 4). The cations making up the common disinfectant benzalkonium chloride are described by the same correlation. This is relevant in the context of bioaccumulation, because it suggests that there is a continuum in nonspecific toxicity of organic cations-including disinfectants and germicidesthat is dominated by their uptake controlled by hydrophobicity. This is then modulated by structure-specific effects. From these observations, and from similar correlations of surfactant hydrophobicity with bioaccumulation⁹⁷ and toxicity,^{96,98} it would be expected, that-in the absence of metabolic or abiotic transformation reactions—the $\log k_0$ values given in Table 2 correlate with the tendency of these ions to bioaccumulate.

In this study, the hydrophobicities of some theoretically predicted metabolites of the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium cations was also determined. As already pointed out, their lipophilicity was lower than that of the parent cation, but their cytotoxicity, and thus likely also their bioaccumulation tendency, was described by the same linear correlation. In this context, it is noteworthy that the first attempts to find some of the theoretically predicted metabolites of the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium cation¹⁹ have recently been published.⁹⁹

Comparison to BCF values measured for surfactants shows fish BCF values for long chain alkyltrimethylammonium cationics of up to 2000^{100} and for linear alkylbenzene sulfonate anionics of up to 1000,¹⁰¹ which correspond to a high bioaccumulation potential. Considering that BCF values for perfluorinated acids (PFAs) range up to 23000^{102} and that the consequences of this high bioconcentration and dietary bioaccumulation¹⁰³ potential are part of the reasons why the long chain PFAs are being phased out,¹⁰³ it is clear that the increasing popularity of perfluorinated side chains, also noticeable in the field of ionic liquids, will not automatically lead to green or sustainable chemistry. Similarly, the large log k_0 value of the long chain phosphonium cation trihexyltetradecylphosphonium indicates a very high bioaccumulation potential.

By comparison, all molecular solvents chosen as a reference for comparison do not or are not expected to bioconcentrate.^{76,77} This means that the structural variability of ionic liquids causes them to most likely cover both the low and the high ends of the bioaccumulation scale, while the admittedly random set of reference solvents does not cause concerns of bioaccumulation.

While the knowledge on bioaccumulation of surfactants is now quite evolved, bioconcentration or more general bioaccumulation of typical ionic liquid cations and anions has yet to be directly investigated. The further establishment of linear free enthalpy relationships (LFER) for ionic substances would help to reduce the need for animal testing. Almost no knowledge on bioaccumulation of surfactant or ionic liquid metabolites has been generated.

It is important to note that to date no standard bioconcentration studies with ionic liquids have been carried out. This is an important uncertainty in the risk profile of ionic liquids that will have to be filled soon.

5. Biological Activity of Ionic Liquids

In the Introduction, we postulated that the biological activity of ILs in the organisms should be evaluated using critical dilution factors, i.e., the amount of biomass needed to dilute the bioaccumulated part of the released substances including their environmental and metabolic transformation products. While the recently proposed inclusion of transformation products into the assessment of biological activity²⁸ has not been propagated by other authors, the critical dilution factor of the parent compound is simply the inverse critical body residue (CBR), which has been proposed by Lynn McCarty, Don Mackay, and others in the context of an approximative unifying physicochemical theory of the relationship of hydrophobicity as quantified by log K_{ow} , bioconcentration, and aquatic toxicity.^{29,30}

Currently, it is not possible to include environmental transformation products and metabolites into the assessment of the biological activity of ILs in the environment, since not even degradation pathways, not to speak of the respective degradation kinetics along these pathways (as have been estimated, e.g., for nonyl phenol ethoxylates by Fenner et al.¹⁰⁴), are known, and only little can be said about the properties of the theoretically predicted transformation products.

McCarty and Mackay have stated about the CBR method that its principles are applicable not only to aquatic systems but also to all parts of the ecosystem. They also point out that their theory indicates that living organisms are much more similar than it would appear from a superficial examination of toxicity test results.³⁰

For anionic as well as cationic surfactants, relationships between acute fish lethality expressed as log LC_{50} and

estimated hydrophobicity expressed as $\log K_{ow}$ values have been demonstrated,^{96,98} suggesting that they could be included into the group of substances acting by (general or $polar^{105}$) narcosis. For a mixture of dodecylbenzene sulfonate isomers, critical body residues for acute aquatic toxicity between 0.21 and 0.59 mmol kg⁻¹ were found in a recent study. Critical body residues for chronic toxicity ranged between 0.035 and 0.23 mmol kg⁻¹.¹⁰⁶ In an attempt to simplify the establishment of critical body residues for fish, Bernhard and Dyer measured critical cell residues (CCRs) in fish cell cultures. CCR values for the three surfactants studied (among them the anionic sodium dodecylbenzene sulfonate and the cationic N111-16) were between 0.6 and 1.13 mmol kg^{-1} .¹⁰⁷ While all these CBRs and CCRs for acute aquatic toxicity fall in the range of values found for polar narcosis (0.2-1.9 mmol kg^{-1}), the chronic toxicity CBRs cited rather point to one of the more specific modes of toxic action such as "respiratory uncoupler" or "AChE inhibitor".30

Therefore, we draw no definitive conclusion about the mode of toxic action of surfactants, but we note that there is some data supporting the assumption of a rather nonspecific mode of action,³² at least in some species, confounded by the potentially pivotal work of Rosen et al.⁹²

From the only measured bioconcentration of ionic liquids that we are aware of, the enrichment of 1-alkyl-3-methlyimidazolium tetrafluoroborates in a glia cell line, the only substance for which concurrent cytotoxicity information in terms of an EC₅₀ value is available is 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate.⁸⁹ For this substance, a critical cellular residue of 6.8 mM can be calculated from the product of its EC₅₀ (400 μ M) and its enrichment factor of 17. Such a critical cellular residue indicates a narcotic mode of action in these cells.

Of course, this can only be taken as a very first approximation of the mode of toxic action of ionic liquids, that will be in some cases modulated and in other cases radically changed by (a) the chemical reactivity of certain ILs, as has been mentioned above, (b) different targets for toxic action that are not present in the cell lines studied so far, and (c) differences in metabolic capacities, leading potentially to a toxification, but more likely to an increased detoxification by transformation to more hydrophilic compounds.

5.1. Ionic Liquid Toxicity toward Enzymes, Microorganisms, and Cell Cultures

On the subcellular toxicity level, enzyme inhibition data have been published for the acetylcholinesterase (AChE)¹⁰⁸ and the AMP deaminase.¹⁰⁹ While 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium ILs with different anions were inhibiting AMP deaminase only at rather high concentrations,¹⁰⁹ 1-butyl-2methylpyridinium and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium as well as 1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium ILs showed pronounced AChE inhibition only by a factor of 3-10 weaker than Aldicarb, a potent AChE inhibiting insecticide.¹⁰⁸ The latter results suggest that insect toxicity should be investigated and that neurotoxicity has to be regarded as a possible effect of ionic liquids, especially for ILs that feature both an intermediate to high lipophilicity and a strong AChE inhibition, such as, e.g., 1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate. Table 3 lists a comprehensive collection of IPC-81 cytotoxicities for 253 compounds and AChE inhibition values for 292 compounds and from our substance library covering a large variety of ionic liquids and closely related salts. The most important features of this data set have largely been

Table 3. Cytotoxicities in the Leukemia Rat Cell Line IPC-81 and AChE Inhibition Data^a

		log E	$C_{50}{}^{b}$
cation	anion	IPC-81	AChE
cution	union	псот	TICHE
3-methyl-1-tetradecylimidazolium	chloride	-0.42	0.54
tributyltetradecylphosphonium	alkylbenzenesulfonate	-0.27	>3.48
1-hexadecyl-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	-0.19	0.68
1-octylauinolinium	bromide	-0.03	NA
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	alkylbenzenesulfonate	-0.01	>3.48
tribevyltetradecylphosphonium	trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate	0	>3
3 methyl 1 octadecylimidazolium	chloride	0.01	0.96
bonzultatradoculdimethylemmonium	chlorida	0.16	0.90 NA
	tatrafluoroborata	0.10	0.2
1-Octylquilloinnuni tribarrultatra da ardan anh aniurr	his (triffue around the low 1 femal) and de	0.17	0.3 > 2.49
trinexyitetradecyipnosphonium	bis(triffuoromethylsuffonyl)amide	0.24	~ 5.48
benzyldodecyldimethylammonium	chloride	0.28	NA
benzylhexadecyldimethylammonium	chloride	0.33	NA
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	tetrafluoroborate	0.48	> 3.3
I-decyl-3-ethylimidazolium	bromide	0.53	0.92
benzyldecyldimethylammonium	chloride	0.64	0.73
1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	0.77	1.08
4-(dimethylamino)-1-hexylpyridinium	chloride	0.93	0.5
4-(dimethylamino)-1-hexylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	0.93	0.81
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis[1,2-benzenediolato(2-)-O1,O2]borate	1.02	2.09
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluorotris(heptafluoropropyl)phosphate	1.04	>2.4
1-hexylquinolinium	tetrafluoroborate	1.07	0.48
lithium	bis[1,2-benzenediolato(2-)-Q1,Q2]borate	1.13	> 3
tetraethylammonium	bis[1,2-benzenediolato(2-)-O1 O2]borate	1 17	2.9
1 1-dihevylpyrrolidinium	tetrafluoroborate	1 23	2.08
1-octylpyridinium	chloride	1.23	1.6
tetrabutylphosphonium	bis[1,2,banzanadialata(2,1), 01, 02]	1.27	2.11
1 dogyl 2 mothylimidezolium	chlorida	1.32	1.00
2 mathal 1 nonalimidanalium	chloride	1.34	1.09
5-methyl-1-nonymmdazonum	cmonde tatas flas as la sata	1.4	1.30
1-octyl-4-methylpyriainium	tetrafiuoroborate	1.49	1.22
1-decy1-3-methylimidazolium	nexativorophosphate	1.5	1.08
I-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate	1.53	> 2.4
3-methyl-1-octylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	1.59	1.53
tetrabutylammonium	bis[1,2-benzenediolato(2-)-O1,O2]borate	1.61	NA
1-octyl-4-methylpyridinium	chloride	1.63	1.11
3-methyl-1-octylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	1.64	2.03
3-methyl-1-nonylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	1.65	1.43
tetrabutylphosphonium	bromide	1.66	2.61
4-(dimethylamino)-1-butylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	1.75	0.59
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate	1.81	NA
1-methyl-1-octylpyrrolidinium	tetrafluoroborate	1.82	2.02
3-methyl-1-nonylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	1.85	1.62
3-hexyl-1,2-dimethylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	1.9	1.27
4-(dimethylamino)-1-butylpyridinium	chloride	1.94	0.6
3-methyl-1-octylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	1.96	2.03
3-methyl-1-octylimidazolium	chloride	2.01	1.6
1-hexyl-3-ethylimidazolium	bromide	2.01	1.77
1-butylquinolinium	tetrafluoroborate	2.16	0.62
1-hexyl-4-methylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	2.17	1.48
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethyl)amide	2.19	1.6
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	2.24	2.15
tetrabutylammonium	bromide	2.25	2.3
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	hexafluoroantimonate	2.26	1.81
1-hexyl-3-ethylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	2.26	1.84
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	1.2-benzisothiazolonium 1.1-dioxide	2.20	1.96
1 hontul 2 mothylimidazolium	havefluorophospheta	2.2)	1.01
and imm	hexafluoroentimonate	2.3	2.24
1 butulouinelinium	heamide	2.51	0.70
	biological budges where $a = a = a = a$	2.52	0.79
IIIIIIIII 1 (0 has daesees stad) 2 marthadiani daeseliana	bis[2-nydroxybenzoal0(2-)-01,02]borate	2.52	~ 3 1 09
1-(8-nydroxyoctyr)-5-metnynmidazonum	bronnide	2.30	1.28
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	trifiuorotris(pentariuoroetnyi)pnospnate	2.41	> 3
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetracarbonylcobaltate	2.44	NA 2.07
1-heptyl-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	2.53	2.07
I-heptyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	2.58	2.12
1-methyl-1-octylpyrrolidinium	chloride	2.59	2.36
1-methyl-3-[(4-methylphenyl)methyl]imidazolium	chloride	2.64	1.86
1-methyl-3-[(4-methylphenyl)methyl]imidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	2.66	NA
1-methyl-3-[(4-methylphenyl)methyl]imidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	2.67	2.08
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	2.68	1.96
sodium	1-dodecylsulfate	2.7	NA
sodium	hexafluorophosphate	2.82	2.16
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis(pentafluoroethyl)phosphinate	2.83	2.09
4-(dimethylamino)-1-ethylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	2.84	0.93

Table 3 (Continued)

		log E	EC_{50}^{b}
cation	anion	IPC-81	AChE
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	2.85	1.92
lithium	bis[oxalato(2-)]-borate	2.87	>3
4-(dimethylamino)-1-ethylpyridinium	bromide	2.9	0.99
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	tetrafluoroborate	2.9	1.91
1-nexy1-5-methylmildazonum	chloride	2.91	1.88
1-methyl-3-(2-phenylethyl)imidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	2.91	1.9
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis[oxalato(2-)]-borate	2.93	2
1,3,7,9-tetramethyl-2,6-dioxo-2,3,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-purin-9-ium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	2.96	1.58
1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	2.98	1.54
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	2.98	1.88
sodium	fluoride	2.99	2.76
1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium	hexafluorophosphate	>3	1.43
3 methyl 1 pentylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	>3	1.74
3-methyl-1-pentylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	>3	1.85
1-methyl-3-(2-phenylethyl)imidazolium	chloride	>3	1.00
3-methyl-1-pentylimidazolium	chloride	>3	1.96
1-methyl-3-(phenylmethyl)imidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	>3	1.98
1-methyl-3-(phenylmethyl)imidazolium	chloride	>3	2.04
1,3-diethylimidazolium	bromide	>3	2.08
3-methyl-1-propylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	>3	2.22
potassium	bromide	>3	>3
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.01	2.13
1 butyl 3 methylimidazolium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	3.02	1.1
1-(ethoxymethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	chloride	3.02	1.93
1-methyl-3H-imidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	3.09	>3
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	3.1	2.15
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	3.12	1.98
1-(ethoxymethyl)pyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.12	2.14
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	dicyanamide	3.15	1.93
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethyl sulfate	3.16	1.99
1-butylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	3.18	1.8
1 (2 methoryethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.18	2.12
1-(2-Ineuroxyethyl)pyrtainiuni 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.19	2.09
1-(ethoxymethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.2	2.93
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.2	2.55
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	1-methylsulfate	3.21	1.95
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	1-octylsulfate	3.23	1.98
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluorotris(pentafluoroethyl)phosphate	3.23	> 2.4
1-butyl-2-methylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	3.25	0.82
1-butyl-3,5-dimethylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	3.25	1.17
1-(2-methoxyethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.25	2.47
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)pyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.26	1.48
1-(ethoxymethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	his(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.20	2.04
1-(3-methoxypropyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.20	2.22
1-(2-methoxyethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.28	1.93
ethyl(2-ethoxyethyl)dimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.28	2.55
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	hydrogensulfate	3.29	1.97
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	toluene-4-sulfonate	3.29	2
1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium	tetrafluoroborate	3.3	1.27
1-(2-methoxyethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.3	2.11
3-ethyl-1-propylimidazolium	bromide	> 3.3	2.21
sodium	iedide	> 3.3	>3
sodium	bromide	>33	>3.48
1-butyl-3-ethylimidazolium	trifluoroacetate	3.31	2.01
ethyl(2-methoxyethyl)dimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonvl)amide	3.31	2.45
1-(ethoxymethyl)pyridinium	chloride	3.32	2.06
lithium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.33	>3
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.34	2.55
1-(2-methoxypropyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.34	2.58
4-(ethoxymethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.34	2.88
1-(5-methoxypropyl)pyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	5.38	2.06
(2-hydroxyethyl)dimethylammonium	ois(unituoiomethyisunonyi)amide	3.4 3.4	2./1
1-butyl-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.4	1 78
1-(ethoxymethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonvl)amide	3.41	2.16
(2-hydroxyethyl)dimethylammonium	hydroxyacetate	3.41	>3

Table 3 (Continued)

		log H	EC_{50}^{b}
cation	anion	IPC-81	AChE
1 h-(-1 2	(h.;	2.40	2
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	thiocyanate	3.42	2
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	bromide	3.43	1.96
1-butyl-3-ethylimidazolium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	3.43	2.01
A hered A weether and a linitary	bis(triffuoromethylsuifonyl)amide	3.43	2.03
4-butyl-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.43	2.78
lithium	bis[malonato(2-)]-borate	3.43	>3
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	3.44	2.05
1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium	tris(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)methide	3.44	>2.4
3-methyl-1-propylimidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	3.47	2.3
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	lodide	3.48	2.02
1-(4-hydroxybutyl)-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	> 3.48	2.74
3-methyl-1-(3-oxobutyl)imidazolium	bromide	>3.48	2.79
tetraethylammonium	chloride	>3.48	2.8
1-(7-carboxyheptyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bromide	>3.48	>3
1-(3-carboxypropyl)-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	>3.48	>3
bis(2-methoxyethyl)ammonium	sulfamate	3.48	>3
sodium	1-octylsulfate	3.48	>3.7
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetracyanoborate	3.5	1.98
1-cyanomethylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.5	2.51
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	1-methanesulfonate	3.51	1.99
4-(ethoxymethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	chloride	3.52	2.96
4-(cyanomethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.53	>3
4-(3-hydroxypropyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.53	>3
ethyl(3-methoxypropyl)dimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.54	2.92
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	3.55	1.91
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)pyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.55	2.56
(ethoxymethyl)ethyldimethylammonium	chloride	3.59	2.36
(ethoxymethyl)methylimidazolium	chloride	3.6	2.61
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.6	2.77
butyltrimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.61	2.6
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.63	2.56
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.65	2.34
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.66	2.74
4-(2-ethoxyethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.69	>3
ethyl(2-hydroxyethyl)dimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.7	2.59
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.72	2.61
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.76	2.88
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bromide	3.77	1.93
4-(3-methoxypropyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.77	>3
1-cyanomethylpyridinium	chloride	3.79	2.47
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)pyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.79	2.65
(ethoxymethyl)ethyldimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.8	2.3
1-(cyanomethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.8	2.83
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	toluene-4-sulfonate	3.81	2.22
4-ethyl-4-methylmorpholinium	toluene-4-sulfonate	3.81	2.59
4-(2-methoxyethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.81	2.9
ethyl(3-hydroxypropyl)dimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.83	>3
(cyanomethyl)ethyldimethylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.87	>3
(2-hydroxyethyl)trimethylammonium	hydroxyacetate	3.89	>3
1-butylpyridinium	bromide	3.9	1.77
1-(cyanomethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	3.9	2.88
1-(3-sulfopropyl)pyridinium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	3.9	>3
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	hexafluorophosphate	3.92	2.05
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	1-ethylsulfate	3.93	2.07
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	hydrogensulfate	3.99	2.13
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluoroacetate	4	2.03
1-(cvanomethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	4	2.45
sodium	chloride	>4	>3
sodium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	>4	>3.3
sodium	1-methylsulfate	>4	>3.48
1-butyl-1-methylpiperidinium	bromide	4.03	1.83
sodium	1-hexanesulfonate	4.08	>3
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	4.09	2.13
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	bromide	4.14	2.27
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)pyridinium	iodide	4.15	2.69
(2-hydroxyethyl)ammonium	formate	4.15	>3
sodium	toluene-4-sulfonate	4.17	>3
sodium	dicvanamide	4.18	>3.48
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	dicvanamide	4.23	1.98
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	thiocvanate	4.23	2.12
1-(cvanomethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	chloride	4.23	2.88
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)pyridinium	bromide	4.24	1.55

Table 3 (Continued)

		$\log EC_{50}^{b}$				
cation	anion	IPC-81	AChE			
1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	chloride	>4.3	1.92			
butylethyldimethylammonium	chloride	>43	2.06			
1_(2_methoxyethyl)pyridinium	chloride	>13	2.00			
3 methyl 1 propylimidazolium	chloride	>13	2.07			
1 (2 mothorwathyl) 1 mothylnymalidinium	chloride	> 4.3	2.27			
1-(2-memoxyemyr)-1-memyrpyrronamum		~ 4.5	2.50			
ethyl(2-ethoxyethyl)dimethylammonium	chloride	~4.5	2.50			
etnyi(2-metnoxyetnyi)dimetnyiammonium	chloride	~4.3	2.57			
1-(2-methoxyethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	>4.3	2.58			
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bromide	>4.3	2.6			
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	iodide	>4.3	2.63			
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)pyridinium	chloride	>4.3	2.65			
ethyl(2-hydroxyethyl)dimethylammonium	iodide	>4.3	2.67			
4-butyl-4-methylmorpholinium	bromide	>4.3	2.71			
1-(3-hydroxypropyl)-1-methylpyrrolidinium	chloride	>4.3	2.86			
1-(cyanomethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	>4.3	2.89			
4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	iodide	>4.3	2.96			
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-3-methylimidazolium	iodide	>4.3	2.96			
4-(2-methoxyethyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	chloride	>43	2.98			
1_(2-hedroxypropyl)_3_methylimidazolium	chloride	>1.3	2.90			
and imm	1 methenesulfonete	>12	>3			
4 (2 othorwothyl) 4 mothylmorpholinium	hromido	> 4.3	> 3			
+-(2-culoxyculy1)-4-illeuryillioipiloiiniuilli (avanomethyl)ethyldimethyleureeseiser	oblogida	~ 4.5	- 3			
(cyanometry))ethyldimethylammonium		~4.5	~ 5			
4-(cyanometnyi)-4-methylmorpholinium	chloride	>4.3	>3			
4-(3-nyaroxypropy1)-4-methylmorpholinium	chloride	>4.3	>3			
(2-hydroxyethyl)trimethylammonium	2-hydroxypropanoate	>4.3	>3			
sodium	thiocyanate	>4.3	>3.48			
1-(2-ethoxyethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	bromide	4.31	2.6			
1-(3-methoxypropyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	chloride	4.4	2.2			
4-(3-methoxypropyl)-4-methylmorpholinium	chloride	>4.48	>3			
1-(2-methoxypropyl)-3-methylimidazolium	chloride	4.49	2.61			
1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	iodide	4.58	2.34			
1-(cvanomethyl)-1-methylpiperidinium	chloride	4 58	2.43			
1_(2_methoxyethyl)_1_methylpiperidinium	bromide	>1.50	2.45			
1 (2 methoxypenyl) r methylpipertainain	chloride	>1.6	2.00			
1 (2 hydrogymonyd) 1 mathylninoridinium	chloride	> 4.0	2.15			
1-(5-fiydroxypropyr)-1-filetrypropertainfulfi	chloride	> 4.0	2.35			
1 (2 - de la construction de la	chioride	~4.0	2.97			
1-(3-metnoxypropyi)-1-metnyipyrrolidinium	chloride	>4./	2.74			
1-octyl-3-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	0.64			
1-butyl-2-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	0.7			
1-butyl-3,4-dimethylpyridinium	chloride	NA	0.85			
1-butyl-3,5-dimethylpyridinium	chloride	NA	0.99			
1-hexyl-3-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	1.06			
1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	1.15			
1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium	dicyanamide	NA	1.22			
1-butyl-3-methylpyridinium	hexafluorophosphate	NA	1.24			
1-octvlpvridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	1.4			
1-hexyl-4-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	1.44			
1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium	chloride	NA	1 44			
1-butyl-4-methylpyridinium	tetracyanoborate	NA	1 /6			
1-pentylpyridinium	bromide	NA	1.40			
1_pentylpyridinium	his(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NΔ	1.52			
1 butul 4 mathulnuridinium	trifluorotris(nontafluoroathyl)nhoonhota	INA NA	1.33			
1-butyleyridinium	ablorido	INA NA	1.04			
		INA	1./			
ı-nexyipyridinium	chloride	NA	1.72			
I-butyIpyridinium	1-methylsultate	NA	1.75			
I-hexylpyridinium	hexatluorophosphate	NA	1.76			
1-hexylpyridinium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	NA	1.84			
1-butylpyridinium	hexafluorophosphate	NA	1.84			
1-hexylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	1.85			
1-butylpyridinium	trifluoromethanesulfonate	NA	1.87			
1-methyl-3-(2-phenylethyl)imidazolium	tetrafluoroborate	NA	1.97			
1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium	tetrachloroferrate	NA	2.01			
1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	2.03			
1_ethyl_3_methylimidazolium	chloride	NA	2.05			
1_ethyl_3_methylimidazolium	2.(2-methoxyethoxy)athyl sulfato	NA NA	2.00			
1 othylpuridinium	2-(2-memoryemory)emyr sunate	INA NA	2.09			
1 (athoryumathul) 1 mathulainau' l'airean	chloride	INA NTA	2.1			
1-(enioxymetnyi)-1-metnyipiperidinium	chloride	INA	2.14			
1-propylpyridinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	2.21			
1-propylpyridinium	bromide	NA	2.22			
3-methyl-1-(2-propenyl)imidazolium	chloride	NA	2.3			
ethyldimethylpropylammonium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	2.34			
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	1-methanesulfonate	NA	2.58			

trihexyltetradecylphosphonium

Table 3 (Continued)

		log H	EC_{50}^{b}
cation	anion	IPC-81	AChE
1-hexyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide	NA	2.6
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	bromide	NA	2.85
sodium	1-butanesulfonate	NA	>3
sodium	1-octanesulfonate	NA	>3
pyridinium	chloride	NA	>3
(2-hydroxyethyl)dimethylammonium	formate	NA	>3
(2-hydroxyethyl)trimethylammonium	hydroxide	NA	>3
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	bis(2,4,4-trimethylpentyl)phosphinate	NA	>3.3
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	dicyanamide	NA	>3.3
trihexyltetradecylphosphonium	hexafluorophosphate	NA	>3.3
sodium	acetate	NA	>3.48
sodium	trifluoroacetate	NA	>3.48

^{*a*} log EC₅₀ values are base 10 logarithms of EC₅₀ values in μ M. The approximate confidence regions of the cytotoxicity values were established to be about ± 0.15 .⁵⁴ ^{*b*} NA means not available (not determined).

decanoate

discussed by earlier contributions from our group,^{35,54–56,108,110} but the datasets presented here cover the largest ionic liquid variability tested in single laboratory tests for biological activity. It should be noted that the values from Table 3 do not exactly coincide with previously published data, as on some substances additional data was generated after the original publications which caused the values to be slightly shifted as compared to the values first published. The IPC-81 cytotoxicities cover more than 4 orders of magnitude, while the AChE inhibitory concentrations span more than 3 orders of magnitude. Since we interpret the IPC-81 cytotoxicities as basal cytotoxicities, they were used for sorting the substances in Table 3 with decreasing cytotoxicity.

Effect concentrations that have been published as minimum inhibitory concentrations or log EC_{50} values have been reported in a number of publications and cannot be reproduced here. Table 4 lists the references that we are aware of.

Table 4 shows that the use of conventional molecular solvents as a reference for IL toxicity to microorganisms and cell cultures has become common practice. On the other side of the activity spectrum, both cationic surfactants with antimicrobial or germicidal activity and reactive biocides have been chosen for convenient comparison of biological effects. The numerical results given in these studies suggest that IL toxicities toward microorganisms and cell cultures cover the whole range of biocidal potencies from rather inactive molecular solvents, such as ethanol or dimethyl sulfoxide that are biocompatible up to very high aqueous concentrations, up to highly active biocides, leading even to the proposal of some ionic liquids as wood preservatives.¹¹¹

Couling et al. have developed quantitative structure– property relationship (QSPR) models for IL toxicity toward *Vibrio fischeri* using various parameters calculated from the IL structure.¹¹² While such models are useful for the estimation of *Vibrio fischeri* toxicity for untested but structurally similar compounds, their relation to modes of toxic action or molecular interaction potentials of ionic liquids,³⁷ and therefore their applicability to other test systems is unclear.

These highlight the necessity of a careful differentiation between types of ionic liquids when referring to their antimicrobial effects. At the time of this writing, it is not clear how much of this variation in biological activity can actually be explained by bioaccumulation in these organisms, since only the data from our group have been analyzed in this respect. The omnipresent chain length effect and the good correlation between cation hydrophobicity and cytotoxicity in a dedifferentiated mammalian cell line cited earlier suggest that a comprehensive investigation of critical cell residues would show a reduction in the range of biological activity values from four or more orders of magnitude observed for cytotoxicity values to little more than 1 order of magnitude for critical cell residues. Our results on the anion effects on cytotoxicity as well as the study of Rosen et al.⁹² even suggest that for various test systems several ionic liquids could be regarded as a mixture of cations and anions with a similar mode of action according to the concentration addition concept developed in mixture toxicity.³⁵

NA

5.2. Aquatic Toxicity

References containing data on the aquatic toxicity of ionic liquids are collected in Table 5. The largest database concerning IL toxicity toward aquatic organisms has been collected for the water flea Daphnia magna. The substances with the highest toxicities toward this species, but also with partially very high toxicities toward the monocellular algae Selenastrum capricornutum, have been investigated by Wells and Coombe.53 These authors found that Daphnia magna EC_{50} values decreased up to a chain length of 18 for the tested 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium chlorides down to 1.7 μ g L⁻¹ (1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride), while the lowest EC50 values for the tested algae were obtained for 1-dodecyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (1.1 μ g L⁻¹). Tetradecyltrihexylphosphonium chloride was less toxic in both the Daphnia and algal assays (72 and 42 μ g L⁻¹, respectively). Obviously, these differences between the test systems cannot be explained by physicochemical parameters, but the possibility of fairly constant critical body residues cannot be excluded. The latter would mean that not so much the biological activity but rather the bioaccumulation tendency is the cause of concern for these substances.

Comparison to data available for ionic surfactants toward algae²² shows that effect concentrations smaller than 1 mg L^{-1} are frequently reported, but toxicity values below 10 μ g L^{-1} are rarely encountered. In general, cationic surfactants are frequently more toxic toward algae than anionic surfactants.²² Ideally, such a comparison should be related to a common hydrophobicity parameter.

A noncomprehensive screening of the abundant surfactant toxicity data on invertebrates indicates that they range down

>3.6

Table 4. Studies of Biological Effects of Ionic Liquids on Microorganisms and Cell Cultures

			no. of				
reference	test systems	end point, parameter ^a	tested ILs	head groups	side chains	anions	reference compds
Pernak et al. 2001 ¹²⁷	5 cocci 1 bacillus	growth MIC MBC	22	nyridinium	alkovvalkyl carbamoyl	12	henzalkonium
Ternak et al., 2001	4 rods, 2 funghi	glowin, Mile, Mile	22	pynamam	aikoxyaikyi carbanioyi,	12	benzarkomum
Pernak et al., 2001 ¹²⁸	5 cocci, 1 bacillus,	growth, MIC, MBC	11	pyridinium	alkoxymethyl,	Cl ⁻	benzalkonium
Pernak et al. 2003 ¹²⁹	4 rods, 2 rungni 5 Gram-positive cocci.	growth MIC MBC	36	imidazolium	alkoxymethyl	Cl ⁻ , BF ₄ ⁻ , PF ₄ ⁻	benzalkonium chloride
	4 Gram-negative rods,	8					
Demles et al. 200455:56	2 fungi	WCT 1 and a stimul	27	···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- 111	C1= D.= DE =	1
Ranke et al., $2004^{55,50}$	IPC-81 cells, C6 cells	WSI-1 reduction/	27	imidazolium	alkyl	CI, Br, BF ₄ PF _c -	4 organic solvents
	Vibrio fischeri	EC ₅₀	13			toluenesulfonate	
Stepnowski et al., 2004 ¹³⁰	HeLa cells	WST-1 reduction	6	imidazolium	alkyl	$Cl^{-}, BF_{4}^{-}, PF_{6}^{-}$	sodium salts of Cl ⁻ , BF ₄ ⁻
Pernak et al. 2004^{57}	5 Gram-positive cocci	growth	42	imidazolium	alkyl	I-lactate	PF_6^- ; 4 organic solvents
i emax et al., 2004	5 Gram-negative rods,	MIC, MBC	72	lindazonan	alkoxymethyl	DL-lactate	Senzarkomum emoride
	2 fungi						
Matsumoto et al., 2004 ¹³¹	9 lactic acid producing	rel. activity	3	imidazolium	alkyl	PF_6^-	14 organic solvents
Cieniecka-Roslonkiewicz et al., 2005122	5 Gram-positive cocci,	growth,	21	phosphonium	alkyl	Cl ⁻ , Br ⁻ ,	benzalkonium chloride
	1 Gram-positive bacillus,	MIC, MBC			5	10 other anions	
	4 Gram-negative rods,						
Lee et al., 2005^{84}	E. coli	growth, EC ₅₀	13	imidazolium	alkyl	bistriflamide, PF ₆ ⁻ , BF ₄ ⁻ ,	8 organic solvents
,,,,,,,,, _		8				methylsulfate,	8
D 1 (1K 1 2005 ¹³²	T7·1 · /· 1 ·	1	14(0)		11 1	$[CF_3SO_3]^-, SBf_6^-$	10 1 1
Docherty and Kulpa, 2005 ¹³²	(5 other bacteria)	(CFU at 1 g/L)	14 (6)	nyridinium	alkyl	CI, Br, dicvanamide	12 organic solvents
Garcia et al., 2005 ⁶⁰	Vibrio fischeri	luminescence, EC ₅₀	10	imidazolium	alkyl	Cl^- , Br^- , BF_4^- , PF_6^-	7 organic solvents,
G 11 000 c122						01- D -	7 cationic surfactants
Couling et al., 2006 ¹³⁵	Vibrio fischeri	Iuminescence,	25	imidazolium, pyridinium	alkyl	Cl ⁻ , Br [•] -	6 organic solvents, 7 compounds used to
		1050		ammoinium,		diethylphosphate,	synthesize ILs
D 1 000 51	DOM: N			phosphonium, choline		dicyanamide	
Ranke et al., 2006^{34}	IPC-81 cells	WST-1 reduction,	74	imidazolium, quinolinium	alkyl, hydroxyl	$CI^-, Br^-, BF_4^-, PF_4^-$	benzalkonium chloride
		LC50		phosphonium,	alkyl, carboxy	116	constituents
				ammonium	alkyl, phenylalkyl		
Stolte et al., 2006 ³⁵	IPC-81 cells	WST-1 reduction,	35	imidazolium	alkyl	27	18 compounds used to
		LC50					4 organic solvents
Stolte et al., 2006 ¹³⁴	IPC-81 cells	WST-1 reduction,	99	imidazolium, pyridnium,	alkyl, alkoxy,	Cl ⁻ , Br ⁻ , I ⁻ ,	3 organic solvents,
		EC_{50}		dimethylaminopyridinium,	nitrile,	bistriflamide	3 biocides
				alkyl. piperidinium, ammonium	nyuloxyi		
Ganske and Bornscheuer, 2006 ¹³⁵	3 bacteria	growth at 4%	2	imidazolium	butyl	BF_4^-, PF_6^-	DMSO, methanol
Err de et el 2007136		and 10% IL v/v	24	······································	-111 11	$\mathbf{DE} = \mathbf{DE} = \mathbf{J}_{1}^{1} \cdots \mathbf{J}_{n}^{n}$	ethanol
Frade et al., 2007 ¹³⁰	H1-29 and CaCo-2 cells	MIT reduction	24	phosphonium, guaniainium,	methoxyethoxyethyl	acesulfame, saccharinate,	acetonitrile, ethanol.
				ammonium		bistriflamide	and DMSO
Luis et al., 2007 ¹¹⁸	Vibrio fischeri	luminescence, EC ₅₀	5	imidazolium, pyridinium,	alkyl	Cl-	
Matzke et al., 2007 ¹³⁷	IPC-81, Vibrio fischeri	WST-1 reduction.	11	imidazolium	alkyl	6 different anions	sodium bistriflamide, carbendazim.
		luminescence, EC ₅₀			·· .		acetone, acetonitrile
^a MIC = minimum inhibitory cond	centration. $MBC = minin$	num bactericidal/fu	ngicida	al concentration. $CFU = colony$	v forming units		



to but are generally not lower than 100 μ g L^{-1,21,48,72,113} This further indicates the importance of the data put forward by Wells and Coombe as negative examples. It should be realized however that two members of the most commonly employed ILs, namely the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium salts, showed only moderate aquatic toxicity values between 5 and 50 mg L⁻¹ in their dataset.

Recently, the first data on fish toxicity (if data on surfactants that can be regarded as ionic liquids is not counted) of 15 ILs were published by Pretti et al.¹¹⁴ and were interpreted as a warning shot. Out of the 15 ILs tested, 2 exhibited 96 h fish toxicity to zebrafish lower than 100 mg/L (between about 2 and 30 mg L⁻¹). These two ILs share their most important structural features with common cationic surfactants, and compared with fish toxicity values for such compounds, the fish toxicity values below 1 mg L⁻¹ have been collected earlier for cationic surfactants.²¹

Nevertheless, the potential impact of large, hydrophobic cations on aquatic organisms has to be kept in mind for a sustainable process design with ionic liquids.

5.3. Terrestrial and Mammalian Toxicity of Ionic Liquids

Terrestrial toxicity data for ILs published in international journals is very sparse. Therefore, we decided to include some recently presented talks and posters in our collection (Table 6). The data is in the process of being published in peer-reviewed journals. Still, the investigations are confined to 1-alkyl-3-imidazolium type ILs. However, the first conclusions can already be drawn. It can be stated that plant growth inhibition due to ionic liquid exposure does occur, with effective concentrations ranging down to 100 mg kg⁻¹ and lower. Matzke et al. have investigated the sorption of both 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium ILs to different soils, modified by addition of clay and organic substance.115 Although they found that sorption of the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium cation is less than that of the 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium cation, and therefore the bioavailability of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium can be said to be higher, 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium still showed effects at lower concentrations than those for 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium, confounding the results that were published earlier.116

Concerning mammalian toxicity, a series of acute toxicity tests on rats, among others on its contact sensitizing potential, have recently become available for 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride, reporting an acute oral LD_{50} for female rats of 550 (381–1710) mg kg⁻¹. The activity in dermal application was much increased when 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride was applied in dimethylformamide, lowering the dermal LC50 at least for the female sex from >2000 mg kg⁻¹ to the range between 800 and 200 mg kg⁻¹.

1-Butyl-3-methylimidazolium was also found to be slightly irritating to the skin. The lymph node proliferative activity in the local lymph node assay indicated a behavior consistent with some sensitation potential.

Tests for ionic liquid mutagenicity by Docherty et al. in a bacterial assay with ten compounds resulted in none of them meeting US EPA criteria for mutagenicity.¹¹⁷

5.4. Uncertainty in the Evaluation of Biological Activity

Recently, attempts have been undertaken to rationalize results from biological testing by quantitative structure-

	reference	compds			benzalkonium	chloride				1-methylimidazole								sodium bistriflamide,	carbendazim, atrazin	
		anions	${ m BF_4}^-$	${ m BF_4^-}$	${ m BF_4^-}$		CI-	${ m BF_4^-}$		$CI - NO_{3}^{-}$		$\mathrm{PF_6}^-$	$\mathrm{PF_6^{-}}$	CI-		CI-	CI-	BF_{4}^{-} , bistriflamide		
	side	chains	alkyl	alkoxyalkyl	alkyl		alkyl	alkyl		(-)-1-(1 <i>R</i>)-nonvl		alkoxyalkyl	alkyl	alkyl		alkyl	alkyl	alkyl		
	head	groups	imidazolium	imidazolium	imidazolium		imidazolium	imidazolium		imidazolium		imidazolium	imidazolium	imidazolium		imidazolium	imidazolium	imidazolium		
no. of	tested	\mathbb{IL}_{S}	2	10	1		ю	7		<i>c</i>	1	1	1	1		1	1	4		
		end point	growth inhibition	growth inhibition	acute toxicity, chronic	reproductive tox. growth inhibition	acute toxicity	acute toxicity, chronic	reproductive tox. growth inhibition	germination growth	growth anomalies	acute toxicity	acute toxicity	acute toxicity (oral	and dermal)	dermal and eye irretation	dermal toxicity	growth inhibition,	reproduction	
		test systems	Lepidium sativum	Hordeum vulgare	Folsomia candida		Caenorhabditis elegans	Enchytraeus albidus		Hordeum nuloare	Raphanus sativus	rat	rat	rat		rabbit	mouse	Lepidium sativum,	Triticum aestivum,	Folsomia candida
		reference	Jastorff et al., 2005 ¹¹⁶	Pernak et al., 2004 ⁴⁵	Thiele et al., 2006^{140}		Swatloski et al., 2004 ¹⁴¹	Juffernholz and	Filser, 2004 ¹⁴²	Baczewski et al 2007 ¹⁴³		Pernak et al., 2001 ¹⁴⁴	Swatloski et al., 2003 ⁶⁷	Landry et al., 2005 ¹⁴⁵		Landry et al., 2005^{145}	Landry et al., 2005^{145}	Matzke et al., 2007 ¹³⁷		

Fable 6. Terrestrial and Mammalian Toxicity Studies on Ionic Liquids

Design of Sustainable Chemical Products

activity relationships (QSARs), in order to be able to estimate the hazard potential of ILs that have not been tested yet.^{112,118} While these studies are currently confined to one assay (V. fischeri luminescence), it can be expected that attempts will be made to extrapolate to other species. At the same time, there are indications that, for simple, small organisms living in aqueous media, an unspecific mode of action dominated by hydrophobicity dominates the observeable adverse effects⁵⁴ and that cations and anions act according to the principle of concentration addition.³⁵ As long as these hypotheses are not confirmed by independent studies and tested for applicability to a variety of organisms, a prediction of biological activity for the vast untested majority of combinations of ILs and organisms is not possible.

It also has to be noted that, with very few exceptions,^{119–121} no studies on chronic toxicity or sublethal effects have been carried out.

Concerning human health risks, no mammalian mutagenicity or carcinogenicity studies have been performed, and only limited data on sensitization of skin, eyes, and respiratory tract have been published.

6. Evaluation Uncertainties and Data Gaps

The largest uncertainty in the evaluation of the comparative ecotoxicological risk profiles of ionic liquids as compared to functionally related conventional molecular solvents and structurally related ionic surfactants is currently the question under what circumstances and in what amounts ILs or their breakdown products will enter the environment. Without this information, their ecotoxicological risk profiles are highly underdetermined.

In our assessment of potential release scenarios, we have focused on industrial uses. However, it is also possible that ILs will be used in consumer products. To illustrate this point, hexafluorophosphate anions are a common ingredient in the popular Li ion batteries that have become almost ubiquitous in industrialized parts of the world. This analogy also illustrates that in such a case it can become quite difficult to control these substances, as recent expensive product recalls by laptop producers have shown.

Presuming a release, the next important piece of information about the potential impact of a chemical substance on the environment is its fate in the environment, which can be simplified to its environmental degradability in the environmental medium to which it has the highest affinity. Although we have shown that some information on biodegradability is already available, it must be noted that knowledge of this is of utmost importance for a chemical substance that is to be termed "green".

While there is now a good amount of data on the degradability of IL cations, the lack of knowledge about the environmental fate of widely used anions such as bistriflamide is disturbing. This anion has already been shown to increase the toxicity of ionic liquid cations and, potentially, also of other organic cations.^{35,122}

The third large uncertainty factor is the rate at which new ionic liquids and ionic liquid applications are published, in many cases in the journal *Green Chemistry*, implying that they *are* green chemistry, but with not more than a trace of consideration for the questions that have been addressed in this paper. It is impossible to foresee what kind of structures will appear next, and it seems reasonable to argue that the bar should be raised for products and processes to be considered green, in the sense that a monocriterial optimization (low vapor pressure) cannot be considered sufficient in the presence of multicriterial optimization challenges.

While external effect concentrations for ionic liquids for example aquatic toxicity values—are appearing at quite a fast pace recently, evaluation uncertainties regarding their large scatter can potentially be reduced by studies focusing on more general concepts such as correlations between hydrophobicity, potentially modified by more specific interaction potentials, and bioconcentration, critical body residues, but also basal cytotoxicity.^{123,124}

The benchmark chemicals (conventional molecular organic solvents and surfactants, including biocidal surfactants) that we have chosen for our comparative evaluation show a much lower evaluation uncertainty, which already starts with their fairly well-known and stable use patterns. This imbalance could possibly be reverted by focusing only on the technological development of ionic liquids that are really candidates for sustainable products from a multicriterial perspective.

7. Conclusions

In the beginning, we have stated that the rationale for calling ionic liquids "green" consists of three arguments relating to vapor pressure, flammability, and toxicity. We have argued that this is not sufficient for a design of sustainable chemical products and have referred to the concept of ecotoxicological risk profiles, which comparatively assess substances according to the five risk indicators release, spatiotemporal range, bioaccumulation, biological activity, and uncertainty (Figure 2).

Concerning the release of and from ionic liquids, applications and processes have to be designed to take into account the toxic potential of the substances employed. At current, this seems to be possible, especially when ILs are used under highly controlled conditions in chemical production facilities.

The biodegradability of ILs has focused on making the cation more biodegradable. Because of the need for hydrophobic ILs, it seems to be of primary importance to develop anions that introduce sufficient hydrophobicity but are at the same time biodegradable. Even if high bioaccumulation and toxicity might be observed for the parent compound, its ready degradation, starting in wastewater treatment facilities, would decrease the joint bioaccumulation of the parent compound and the transformation products, and critical body residues would not be reached. Of course, similar considerations are valid for both anions and cations, and the focus on cation biodegradability might be justified by the above-mentioned tendency of organic cations to be more toxic than anions, which could in turn be related to the negative surface charge (membrane potential) of living organisms.

In addition to current studies on wastewater treatment methods and biodegradation, the toxicity of the degradation products should be investigated, in order to make sure that they are less toxic than the original products.

The knowledge we have on IL toxicity, which has been argued to be dominated by their bioaccumulation potential, already allows for an T-SAR directed design for low toxicity. The key factor will be low anion and cation lipophilicity. If, however, lipophilicity in the form of low water solubility is a technical requirement, a design for biodegradability could resolve the conflict between safety and technical requirements.

The fact that cations and anions will generally have a separate fate in the environment leads to the conclusion that they have to be evaluated separately. A convenient strategy is to test the alkali salts of anions and the halogenides of cations, and to attempt to explain their combined effects by means of mixture toxicity.³⁵ Biodegradation should be evaluated separately for cations and anions, in order to avoid simple dilution of refractory ions with biodegradable ones.

Next to the obvious advantages in optimizing the breakdown of ILs in the environment from the environmental viewpoint, some direct tests of bioaccumulation of ILs should be carried out. If a sufficient body of such data should appear, these could be generalized by the help of QSAR and the proposed screening indicators for hydrophobicity.

There is also next to no knowledge on sublethal and chronic effects of ILs on biological organisms. However, we argue that this is of limited relevance as long as only small volumes of readily biodegradable ILs are released to the environment, which is what we would aim for with first priority. If large volumes of refractory ILs were to be released, the question of sublethal and chronic effects would of course quickly be relevant.

Summing up, the structural variability of ionic liquids provides substances that have a low risk regarding each of the five risk indicators. Therefore, there is a good chance that we will see a sustainable ionic liquid with an excellent risk profile for a defined technical application which is itself in line with sustainable development. However, the reverse is also possible, if no care is taken to avoid unfavorable risk profiles.

Finally, it must be noted that the type of risk analysis carried out here will be most efficient when embedded in a sustainable product design (Figure 1) or even a life-cycle design process, as indicated in the Introduction and further described in earlier contributions.^{19,116} A start with analyzing the life cycle of an ionic liquid has already been made,¹²⁵ and future studies should take a more holistic view on products and processes than could be propagated in this study.

8. Acknowledgments

We are thankful for fruitful collaboration within the ionic liquids group at the University of Bremen, as well as with our external cooperation partners. Support from Merck KGaA in the context of our strategic partnership is gratefully acknowledged. We would also like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments.

9. References

- (1) Jonas, H. Das Prinzip Verantwortung; Suhrkamp: Frankfurt am Main, 1984.
- (2) Agenda 21: Programme of Action for Sustainable Development; United Nations, Departement of Public Information: New York, 1993.
- (3) Anastas, P. A.; Warner, J. C. Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1998.
- (4) Benign by Design; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1994.
- (5) Eissen, M.; Metzger, J. O.; Schmidt, E.; Schneidewind, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 414.
- (6) Boschen, S.; Lenoir, D.; Scheringer, M. Naturwissenschaften 2003, 90, 93.
- (7) Kümmerer, K. Green Chem. 2007, 1.
- (8) Hungerbühler, K.; Ranke, J.; Mettier, T. Chemische Produkte und Prozesse: Grundkonzepte zum umweltorientierten Design; Springer: Berlin 1998.
- (9) Jastorff, B.; Störmann, R.; Wölcke, U. Struktur-Wirkungs-Denken in der Chemie—eine Chance für mehr Nachhaltigkeit; Universitätsverlag Aschenbeck & Isensee: 2003.
- (10) Manahan, S. E. Green Chemistry and the Ten Commandments of Sustainability; ChemChar Research Inc.: Columbia, MO, 2005.
- (11) Collins, T. Green Chem. 2003, 5, G51.

- (12) Wilkes, J.; Levisky, J.; Wilson, R.; Hussey, C. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1263.
- (13) Nelson, W. M. ACS Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 30.
- (14) Jastorff, B.; Stormann, R.; Ranke, J.; Molter, K.; Stock, F.; Oberheitmann, B.; Hoffmann, W.; Hoffmann, J.; Nuchter, M.; Ondruschka, B.; Filser, J. *Green Chem.* **2003**, *5*, 136.
- (15) Scammels, P. J.; Scott, J. L.; Singer, R. D. Aust. J. Chem. 2005, 58, 155.
- (16) Zhao, D.; Liao, Y.; Zhang, Z. Clean 2007, 35, 42.
- (17) Wilkes, J. S. J. Mol. Catal. Chem. 2004, 214, 11.
- (18) Wasserscheid, P.; van Hal, R.; Bösmann, A. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 400.
- (19) Jastorff, B.; Störmann, R.; Ranke, J.; Mölter, K.; Stock, F.; Oberheitmann, B.; Hoffmann, W.; Hoffmann, J.; Nüchter, M.; Ondruschka, B.; Filser, J. *Green Chem.* **2003**, *5*, 136.
- (20) Antonides, H. J.; Tanner, W. S. Appl. Microbiol. 1961, 9, 572.
- (21) Boethling, R. S.; Lynch, D. G. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Vol. 3, Part F: Detergents*; Springer: Berlin, 1992; pp 145–177.
- (22) Lewis, M. A. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 1990, 20, 123.
- (23) Van Leeuwen, C. J.; Hermens, J. L. *Risk Assessment of Chemicals*; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1995.
- (24) Ranke, J.; Jastorff, B. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 2000, 7, 105.
- (25) Ranke, J. Ecotoxicological risk profiles of chemicals: Concept and application to antifouling biocides; dissertation.de: Berlin, 2002.
- (26) Scheringer, M. Persistence and spatial range of environmental chemicals: New ethical and scientific concepts for risk assessment; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002.
- (27) Fenner, K.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbühler, K. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2000, *34*, 3809.
- (28) Ranke, J. Inclusion of metabolites in the assessment of bioaccumulation and biological activity; Escher, B., Hermens, J., Schwarzenbach, R., Eds.; Workshop on Internal Exposure–linking bioavailability to effects, August 22–27, Monte Veritá, Switzerland, 2004.
- (29) McCarty, L. S.; Mackay, D.; Smith, A. D.; Ozburn, G. W.; Dixon, D. G. Sci. Total Environ. 1991, 109–110, 515.
- (30) McCarty, L. S.; Mackay, D. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1993, 27, 1719.
- (31) Van Wezel, A. P.; Opperhuizen, A. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 1995, 25, 255.
- (32) Escher, B. I.; Hermens, J. L. M. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 4201.
- (33) Maeder, V.; Escher, B. I.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbühler, K. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2004, 38, 3659.
- (34) Ranke, J. Ecotoxicological Risk Profiles of Chemical Substances, http://www.uft.uni-bremen.de/chemie/ranke/erp.php, 2006.
- (35) Stolte, S.; Arning, J.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Stock, F.; Thiele, K.; Uerdingen, M.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Jastorff, B.; Ranke, J. Green Chem. 2006, 8, 621.
- (36) Schwarzenbach, R. P.; Gschwend, P. M.; Imboden, D. M. Environmental Organic Chemistry; Wiley & Sons: New York, 2003.
- (37) Poole, C. F. J. Chromatogr., A 2004, 1037, 49.
- (38) Earle, M. J.; Esperanca, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Lopes, J. N. C.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Widegren, J. A. *Nature* 2006, 439, 831.
- (39) Øye, H. A.; Jagtoyen, M.; Oksefjell, T.; Wilkes, J. S. Mater. Sci. Forum 1991, 73–75, 183.
- (40) Poole, C. F.; Furton, K. G.; Kersten, B. R. J. Chromatogr. Sci. 1986, 24, 400.
- (41) Ngo, H. L.; LeCompte, K.; Hargens, L.; Mcewen, A. B. *Thermochim. Acta* **2000**, *357*, 97.
- (42) Glenn, A. G.; Jones, P. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 6967.
- (43) Stepnowski, P.; Zaleska, A. J. Photochem. Photobiol. Chem. 2005, 170, 45.
- (44) Morawski, A. W.; Janus, M.; Goc-Maciejewska, I.; Syguda, A.; Pernak, J. Pol. J. Chem. 2006, 79, 1929.
- (45) Pernak, J.; Sobaszkiewicz, K.; Foksowicz-Flaczyk, J. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 3479.
- (46) Li, X.; Zhao, J.; Li, Q.; Wang, L.; Tsang, S. C. Dalton Trans. 2007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b618384k.
- (47) Howard, P. H. Handbook of Property Estimation Methods for Chemicals: Environmental and Health Sciences; Lewis Publishers: Boca Raton, FL, 2000; Chapter 12, pp 281–310.
- (48) Sánchez Leal, J.; Gonzalez, J. J.; Kaiser, K. L. E.; Palabrica, V. S.; Comelles, F.; Garcia, M. T. Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol. 1994, 22, 13.
- (49) Krzeminski, S. F.; Martin, J. J.; Bracket, C. K. Household Pers. Prod. Ind. 1973, 22.
- (50) Gerike, P.; Fischer, W. K.; Jasiak, W. Water Res. 1978, 12, 1117.
- (51) Wierich, P.; Gerike, P. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 1981, 5, 161.
- (52) Rosenblom, J.; Debets, F.; Dechariaux, H.; Guhl, W.; Bontoux, L.; Solbe, J.; Bücking, W.; Friedli, F.; Haebler, W. DHTDMAC: Aquatic and Terrestrial Hazard Assessment; Technical Report No. 53;

European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals: Brussels, 1993; CAS No. 61789-80-0.

- (53) Wells, A. S.; Coombe, V. T. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2006, 10, 794.
- (54) Ranke, J.; Stock, F.; Müller, A.; Stolte, S.; Jastorff, B. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 2006, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.08.008.
- (55) Ranke, J.; Mölter, K.; Stock, F.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Poczobutt, J.; Hoffmann, J.; Ondruschka, B.; Filser, J.; Jastorff, B. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2004, 28, 396.
- (56) Ranke, J.; Mölter, K.; Stock, F.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Poczobutt, J.; Hoffmann, J.; Ondruschka, B.; Filser, J.; Jastorff, B. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2005**, *60*, 350.
- (57) Pernak, J.; Goc, I.; Mirska, I. Green Chem. 2004, 6, 323.
- (58) Gathergood, N.; Scammells, P. J. Aust. J. Chem. 2002, 55, 557.
- (59) Gathergood, N.; Garcia, M. T.; Scammells, P. J. *Green Chem.* 2004, 6, 166.
- (60) Garcia, M. T.; Gathergood, N.; Scammells, P. J. *Green Chem.* 2005, 7, 9.
- (61) Gathergood, N.; Scammells, P. J.; Garcia, M. T. *Green Chem.* **2006**, 8, 156.
- (62) Docherty, K. M.; Dixon, J. K.; Kulpa, C. F., Jr. Biodegradation 2006, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10532-006-9081-7.
- (63) Gerike, P.; Fischer, W. K. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 1979, 3, 159.
- (64) Wilkes, J. S. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 73.
- (65) Gorman-Lewis, D. J.; Fein, J. B. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2004, 38, 2491.
- (66) Ponikvar, M.; Zemva, B.; Liebman, J. F. J. Fluor. Chem. 2003, 123, 217.
- (67) Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 361.
- (68) Plakhotnyk, A. V.; Ernst, L.; Schmutzler, R. J. Fluor. Chem. 2005, 126, 27.
- (69) Villagran, C.; Deetlefs, M.; Pitner, W. R.; Hardacre, C. Anal. Chem. 2004, 76, 2118.
- (70) Baker, G. A.; Baker, S. N. Aust. J. Chem. 2005, 58, 174.
- (71) Ignat'ev, N. V.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Kucheryna, A.; Bissky, G.; Willner, H. J. Fluor. Chem. 2005, 126, 1150.
- (72) Painter, H. A. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Vol. 3, Part F: Detergents; Springer: Berlin, 1992; pp 1–88.
- (73) Deeb, R. A.; Scow, K. M.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. *Biodegradation* **2000**, *11*, 171.
- (74) Stepnowski, P. Aust. J. Chem. 2005, 58, 170.
- (75) Stepnowski, P.; Mrozik, W.; Nichthauser, J. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 511.
- (76) Handbook of environmental fate and exposure data for organic chemicals. Vol. 2: Solvents; Lewis Publishers: Chelsea, MI, 1990.(77) Handbook of environmental fate and exposure data for organic
- (1) Handbook of chromothyland Jale and Caposine and Jorganic chemicals. Vol. 4: Solvents 2; Lewis Publishers: Chelsea, MI, 1990.
 (78) Mackay, D.; Paterson, S.; Shiu, W. Y. Chemosphere 1992, 24, 695.
- (78) MacKay, D., Faterson, S., Shiu, W. 1. Chemosphere 1992, 24, 095. (79) RIVM. EUSES: European Union System for the Evaluation of
- Substances. [1.00]. 1996. Ispra, European Chemicals Bureau EC/ DG 11.
- (80) Ranke, J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 1539.
- (81) Choua, C.; Perng, F. S.; Wong, D. S. H.; Su, W. C. 1-Octanol/water partitioning coefficient of ionic liquids; Proceedings of the 15th symposium on thermophysical properties; National Institute of Standards and Technology: 2003, http://symp15.nist.gov/sessions. htm#Ionic Liquids and Other Solvents 1.
- (82) Domanska, U.; Bogel-Lukasik, E.; Bogel-Lukasik, R. Chem.-Eur. J. 2003, 9, 3033.
- (83) Ropel, L.; Belveze, L. S.; Aki, S. N. V. K.; Stadtherr, M. A.; Brennecke, J. F. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 83.
- (84) Lee, S. M.; Chang, W. J.; Choi, A. R.; Koo, Y. M. Kor. J. Chem. Eng. 2005, 22, 687.
- (85) Jafvert, C. T.; Westall, J. C.; Grieder, E.; Schwarzenbach, R. P. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1990, 24, 1795.
- (86) Tolls, J.; Kloeppersams, P.; Sijm, D. T. H. M. Chemosphere 1994, 29, 693.
- (87) Tolls, J.; Lehmann, M. P.; Sijm, D. T. H. M. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2000, 19, 2394.
- (88) Meylan, W. M.; Howard, P. H.; Boethling, R. S.; Aronson, D.; Printup, H.; Gouchie, S. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **1999**, *18*, 664.
- (89) Ranke, J.; Cox, M.; Müller, A.; Schmidt, C.; Beyersmann, D. *Toxicol. Environ. Chem.* 2006, 88, 273.
- (90) Rosen, M. J. Surfactants and interfacial phenomena; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1989.
- (91) Rosen, M. J.; Fei, L.; Zhu, Y. P.; Morrall, S. W. J. Surfactants Deterg. 1999, 2, 343.
- (92) Rosen, M. J.; Li, F.; Morrall, S. W.; Versteeg, D. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2001, 35, 954.
- (93) Hansch, C.; Leo, A. Exploring QSAR-Fundamentals and Applications in Chemistry and Biology; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1995.

- (94) Stepnowski, P.; Storoniak, P. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 2005, 12, 199.
- (95) Roberts, D. W.; Marshall, S. J. SAR QSAR Environ. Res. 1995, 4, 167.
- (96) Roberts, D. W.; Costello, J. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2003, 22, 220.
- (97) Tolls, J.; Haller, M.; Labee, E.; Verweij, M.; Sijm, D. T. H. M. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2000, 19, 646.
- (98) Roberts, D. W. Sci. Total Environ. 1991, 109/110, 557.
- (99) Kumar, S.; Ruth, W.; Sprenger, B.; Kragl, U. Chim. Oggi 2006, 24, 24.
- (100) Versteeg, D. J.; Shorter, S. J. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 1992, *11*, 571.
 (101) Tolls, J.; Haller, M.; DeGraaf, I.; Thijssen, M. A. T. C.; Sijm, D. T.
- H. M. Environ. Sci. Technol. **1997**, *31*, 3426. (102) Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G.
- $\begin{array}{c} (102) \\ \hline \\ (102) \\ \hline \\$
- (103) Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2003, 22, 189.
- (104) Fenner, K.; Kooijman, C.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 1147.
- (105) Roberts, D. W.; Costello, J. F. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2003, 22, 226.
- (106) Versteeg, D. J.; Rawlings, J. M. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2003, 44, 237.
- (107) Bernhard, M. J.; Dyer, S. D. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24, 1738.
- (108) Stock, F.; Hoffman, J.; Ranke, J.; Ondruschka, B.; Jastorff, B. *Green Chem.* **2004**, *6*, 286.
- (109) Skladanowski, A. C.; Stepnowski, P.; Kleszczynski, K.; Dmochowska, B. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 2005, 19, 291.
- (110) Arning, J.; Böschen, A.; Stolte, S.; Jastorff, B.; Ranke, J. In preparation.
- (111) Pernak, J.; Goc, I.; Fojutowski, A. Holzforschung 2005, 59, 473.
- (112) Couling, D. J.; Bernot, R. J.; Docherty, K. M.; Dixon, J. K.; Maginn, E. J. Green Chem. 2006, 8, 82.
- (113) Lewis, M. A.; Suprenant, D. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 1983, 7, 313.
- (114) Pretti, C.; Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D.; Gregori, M.; Abramo, F.; Monni, G.; Intorre, L. Green Chem. 2005, 8, 238.
- (115) Matzke, M.; Müller, A.; Thiele, K.; Filser, J. Ionic Liquids in soil: Sorption characteristics and effects on plants of imidazolium ionic Liquids; 16th Annual Meeting of SETAC Europe, Den Haag, Netherlands, 2006; 34.
- (116) Jastorff, B.; Mölter, K.; Behrend, P.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Filser, J.; Heimers, A.; Ondruschka, B.; Ranke, J.; Schaefer, M.; Schröder, H.; Stark, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Stock, F.; Störmann, R.; Stolte, S.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Ziegert, S.; Thöming, J. *Green Chem.* **2005**, *7*, 362.
- (117) Docherty, K. M.; Hebbeler, S.; Kulpa, C. F. Green Chem. 2006, 8, 560.
- (118) Luis, P.; Ortiz, I.; Aldaco, R.; Irabien, A. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.06.010.
- (119) Bernot, R. J.; Brueseke, M. A.; Evans-White, M. A.; Lamberti, G. A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24, 87.
- (120) Bernot, R. J.; Kennedy, E. E.; Lamberti, G. A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24, 1759.
- (121) Thiele, K.; Juffernholz, T.; Müller, A.; Filser, J.; Jastorff, B. Ionic Liquids in Soil: Effects on imidazolium ionic liquids on the springtail Folsomia candida (Collembola) in comparison to a quaternary

- (122) Cieniecka-Roslonkiewicz, A.; Pernak, J.; Kubis-Feder, J.; Ramani, A.; Robertson, A. J.; Seddon, K. R. *Green Chem.* 2005, 7, 855.
- (123) Ekwall, B. In *The basal cytotoxicity concept*; Goldberg, A. M., van Zupthen, L. F. M., Eds.; The World Congress on Alternatives and Animal Use in the Life Sciences; Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.: New York, 1995; Vol. 1, pp 721–725.
- (124) Ekwall, B. Acta Pharm. Toxicol. 1983, 52 (Suppl 2), 80.
- (125) Kralisch, D.; Stark, A.; Korsten, S.; Kreisel, G.; Ondruschka, B. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 301.
- (126) BIODEG. Environmental Fate Database; Howard, P., Ed.; Syracuse Research Corporation: Syracuse, New York, 2006.
- (127) Pernak, J.; Kalewska, J.; Ksycinska, H.; Cybulski, J. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 36, 899.
- (128) Pernak, J.; Rogoza, J.; Mirska, I. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 36, 313.
- (129) Pernak, J.; Sobaszkiewich, K.; Mirska, I. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 52.
- (130) Stepnowski, P.; Skladanowski, A. C.; Ludwiczak, A.; Laczynska, E. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 2004, 23, 513.
- (131) Matsumoto, M.; Mochiduki, K.; Kondo, K. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 2004, 98, 344.
- (132) Docherty, K. M.; Kulpa, C. F. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 185.
- (133) Couling, D. J.; Bernot, R. J.; Docherty, K. M.; Dixon, J. K.; Maginn,
 E. J. *Green Chem.* 2006, 8, 82.
- (134) Stolte, S.; Arning, J.; Bottin-Weber, U.; Pitner, W. R.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Jastorff, B.; Ranke, J. Green Chem. 2006, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1039/b615326.
- (135) Ganske, F.; Bornscheuer, U. T. Biotechnol. Lett. 2006, 28, 465.
- (136) Frade, R. F. M.; Matias, A.; Branco, L. C.; Afonso, C. A. M.; Duarte, C. M. M. Green Chem. 2007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b617526k.
- (137) Matzke, M.; Stolte, S.; Thiele, K.; Juffernholz, T.; Arning, J.; Ranke, J.; Welz-Biermann, U.; Jastorff, B. Green Chem., submitted.
- (138) Latala, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Nedzi, M.; Mrozik, W. Aquat. Toxicol. 2005, 73, 91.
- (139) Pretti, C.; Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D.; Gregori, M.; Abramo, F.; Monni, G.; Intorre, L. Green Chem. 2005, 8, 238.
- (140) Thiele, K.; Juffernholz, T.; Müller, A.; Filser, J.; Jastorff, B. Ionic Liquids in Soil: Effects on imidazolium ionic liquids on the springtail Folsomia candida (Collembola) in comparison to a quaternary ammonium compound; 16th Annual Meeting of SETAC Europe, Den Haag, Netherlands, 2006; 152.
- (141) Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Memon, S. B.; Caldwell, G. A.; Caldwell, K. A.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 2004, 668.
- (142) Juffernholz, T.; Filser, J. Do Ionic Liquids affect soil invertebrates?; SETAC-Europe 14th Annual Meeting, April 18–22, Prague, Czech Republic, 2004; 53.
- (143) Balczewski, P.; Bachowska, B.; Bialas, T.; Biczak, R.; Wieczorek, W. M.; Balinska, A. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2007, 55, 1881.
- (144) Pernak, J.; Czepukowicz, A.; Pozniak, R. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2001, 40, 2379.
- (145) Landry, T. D.; Brooks, K.; Poche, D.; Woolhiser, M. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2005, 74, 559.

CR050942S